... Thanks, but I'll bypass

How state gatekeeping impacts regional bypassing in the EU

Evelina Hagberg

Abstract

This thesis centres around the question of how two theories – intergovernmentalism and multilevel governance – explain regional government mobilisation at an EU-level. The central debate is what actually remains of central state control in keeping regional governments out of Brussels. This debate is embodied by two key concepts: central state control, or *gatekeeping*, and regional government participation, or *bypassing*. Previous literature has been riddled with both conceptual and empirical ambiguity in what exactly the role of state gatekeeping is, which leads to the research question: How does state gatekeeping impact regional government bypassing in the EU?

Using multiple different statistical models, I analyse the impact of gatekeeping on bypassing in 298 regions across nineteen EU Member States. I measure gatekeeping in three different ways using data from the Regional Authority Index and develop my own bypassing indices based on three different activities. I control for other factors using Eurostat and Eurobarometer data. It turns out that the role of gatekeeping depends on how gatekeeping as a concept is looked at. When envisioned as a lack of autonomy over the self, gatekeeping constrains bypassing, but when measured as a lack of influence over the national polity, gatekeeping instead incentivises bypassing.

Key words: gatekeeping, bypassing, multilevel governance, intergovernmentalism, paradiplomacy Words: 19 908

Table of contents

1	1 Introduction1						
2 The central debate: what remains of state control?							
	2.1	<i>Gatekeeping</i> : central state control	7				
	2.2	Bypassing: regional government participation	10				
	2.3	What other explanations are there?	13				
3	at to look for and what to expect from gatekeeping and bypassing	16					
	3.1	Spotting bypassing	16				
	3.2	Spotting gatekeeping	18				
	3.3	What to expect	19				
4	Ana	lytical decisions	21				
	4.1	who? Selecting regional governments	21				
	4.2	what? Data and measurements	23				
	4.2.1						
	4.2.2 4.2.3	1 0					
	4.3	how and why? Methodology and justification					
5 (How) does gatekeeping <i>actually</i> impact bypassing?							
	5.1	The role of gatekeeping overall					
	5.2	Self-rule or shared rule? A <i>crucial</i> difference!	34				
	5.3	Money talks? Isolating finances from self- and shared rule	38				
	5.4	Reliability of results	41				
6 The mechanism of <i>gatekeeping</i>							
7	7In summary						
8	8 References						
9	9 Appendix						

1 Introduction

The participation of subnational governments at the EU-level has outright proliferated since the 1980s (Moore, 2007: 3). What started as a few ambitious regions setting up offices in Brussels quickly grew from a handful, to fifty, to common practice (Jerneck & Gidlund, 2001: 63-64). In EU scholarship, these developments were painted as the creation of a *Europe of the Regions* and multilevel governance, where direct channels of communication and influence from the local and regional level have been institutionalised into the European integration project. This, it was hypothesised, would allow regional governments to circumvent or *bypass* their national governments, engaging directly with the EU-level in mobilising the interest of the region.

The idea of a Europe of the regions saw its heyday in the 1990s, before falling in favourability (Anwen, 2008: 483). The predictive nature of the theory made it so that when regional governments failed to become as systematically influential as the theory suggested, criticisms amassed (Anwen, 2008: 485). These criticisms boil down to the argument that Europe of the regions cannot be realised because central state control still matters – the traditional sovereignty of the central state allows it to remain a *gatekeeper* of interests at an EU-level.

The central debate is therefore what actually remains of central state control, i.e. gatekeeping. One side argues that the EU project has undermined state sovereignty and that the gates are now open to regional participation. The other side emphasises the authority of the national government and argues that the EU remains classically intergovernmental (Bache, 1996: 9-10; Bache, 1998: 17). That is, gatekeeping scholars expect gatekeeping to effectively constrain bypassing, while regionalist scholars expect regions to rise above this gatekeeping.

However, the state of the art is limited when it comes to the actual empiricism of gatekeeping. First, the concept of state gatekeeping itself remains unexplained and understudied (Bache & Bristow, 2003: 406). The literature has tended toward an end-state definition that does not lend itself for empirical examination, and while it is clear that gatekeeping amounts to 'state control', there is great ambiguity if 'state control' is constituted by the institutional set-up of a country, or the national executive that currently runs the uppermost level of it (Marks, Hooghe & Blank, 1996: 347). Second, existing studies have biases in their case selection. Studies of regional mobilisation tend to survey only regional governments with offices in Brussels (see Marks, Haesly & Mbaye, 2002: Tatham, 2010; Callanan & Tatham, 2014; Chalmers, 2013), meaning these findings pertain only to already active regions. Establishing liaison offices are

known to be the most expensive and ambitious form of bypassing (Rowe, 2011: 44), meaning these studies speak only to what the high-flyers of regional mobilisation want, say and do. Other studies tend toward case studies, where there is an over-focus on Germany and the United Kingdom (see Kern & Bulkeley, 2009; Bomberg & Peterson, 1998; Bache, 1996; Bache & Bristow, 2003; Pollack, 1995; Dickson, 2014; Rowe, 2011; Blatter et al., 2008; Burch & Gomez, 2002; Gibbs et al., 2001), with few studies moving beyond these cases. Because of these gaps, it is clear that the idea of gatekeeping requires both conceptual and empirical clarification.

In this paper, I contribute to these and other gaps. Where the literature has been dominated by end-state definitions, I go beyond this and showcase the nuances of how gatekeeping might influence bypassing. First, by thoroughly deliberating on the concept of gatekeeping, which I then investigate as a centralisation of power between regional and national level, measured in three different ways. This approach uses the understanding of a 'state' as the institutional set-up of a country, but the outcome of gatekeeping has direct implications for the national executive as well. Second, by opting for a cross-sectional statistical analysis of 298 regions in nineteen EU Member States, I avoid pooling regions based on their activity levels. Third, by creating a new dataset covering different bypassing activities (owning a Brussels office, responding to the European Commission's public consultations and being a member of international interregional networks) I develop a nuanced index for bypassing. Finally, by focusing my efforts on the question of gatekeeping rather than many different determinants of regional bypassing, I am able to show in a detailed and nuanced way how gatekeeping impacts bypassing – and it turns out that what really matters is how you look at gatekeeping.

The research question therefore becomes:

How does central state gatekeeping impact regional government bypassing in the EU?

The paper will unfold as follows: First, I describe the literature and theories that lay at the heart of the debate, in order to then go into more detail about what the concepts of gatekeeping and bypassing actually mean. In this section I also introduce and discuss other bypassing explanations present in the literature. Second, I establish in more detail how to spot gatekeeping and bypassing and deliberate on the expected findings. In the third section I describe the analytical decisions from how I selected my cases, what data I used and how I measured each concept, to what statistical models I ran and why. After this, the fourth step is to present the results of the analysis, before I in the final section return to the theories and propose my own understanding of how central state gatekeeping impacts regional government bypassing.

2 The central debate: what remains of state control?

Regional government mobilisation in the EU has interested scholars for quite some time. The focus has been not only on what the factors that cause or constrain regional mobilisation are (see the extensive body of work by Michäel Tatham, e.g. Tatham, 2010; Tatham, 2012; Tatham, 2013; Tatham, 2015), but also on what the goal of this mobilisation is to begin with (Marks, Haesly & Mbaye, 2002; Kern & Bulkeley, 2009; Moore, 2007; Rowe, 2011; Marks et al., 1996; Lindh, 2018; Scully & Wyn Junes, 2010 – these make up just the tip of the iceberg). In regard to the latter, the consensus seems to be that regional governments have carved out a role for themselves as regards information-sharing, networking, and other pragmatic lobbying activities at the EU-level.

Some authors understand this regional role as indicative that the EU has become a system of *multilevel governance*, escaping the traditional confines of the sovereign state. What remains unclear is the extent to which this reading rings true. On one hand, regional governments have failed to crystallise into a strong pan-European lobby (Anwen, 2008: 483), but on the other hand, there has been a proliferation in regional government activity (Moore, 2007).

The unanswered question looming over the literature is this: What actually remains of central state control? The debate is about whether regional mobilisation – what the literature calls *bypassing* – is occurring irrespective of whether the national governments allow for it, or if national governments actually are able to thwart – or *gatekeep* – regional governments from participating at an EU-level.

This may be seen as a debate of two theories. One side argues that the EU project has undermined central state sovereignty and that the gates are now open to regional participation. This side of the debate represents a broader theory with many names: sometimes it is known as multilevel governance, other times post-functionalism, and sometimes the strand specifically interested in regional governments is referred to as Europe of the Regions. This latter term was popularised by Marks (1992) and sought to describe "a new political order" where "states are outflanked by subnational governments dealing directly with Community-wide bodies" (Marks, 1992: 192). Consider these theories as of now to be synonymous in name and concept, because the overall idea when applied to regional governments is the same: The EU institutions incentivise regional governments to come to Brussels and seek representation through various (in)formal institutions: independent lobbying, the Committee of the Regions, interregional networking, and so on. The result is that the distinction between the domestic and the international is muddled, and central state gatekeeping has, to some extent, dissolved (Piattoni, 2009: 165-166; Pollack, 2015: 35; Tatham, 2016: 4). This allows for regional bypassing to occur irrespective of whether the national governments allow for it – central state sovereignty has fundamentally been undermined (Hooghe & Marks, 2001).

The other side in this narrative emphasises the authority of the national government and argues that the EU remains classically intergovernmental (Bache, 1996: 9-10; Bache, 1998: 17). The specific theory was developed as the *gatekeeping hypothesis*, but the argument takes broader inspiration from bargaining theory and (liberal) intergovernmentalism (Bache, 1996: 9; Bache, 1998: 17; Bache & Bristow, 2003: 406; Pollack, 1995: 362; George, 2004). According to this, the sovereignty and authority of the national governments lead them to retain their gatekeeping capacity, constraining regional mobilisation at an EU-level (Piattoni, 2010: 18). That is, central state sovereignty remains intact and this has implications for the capacity of regional governments to act.

In reality, the two sides of this debate are not nearly as diametrically opposed as this picture would have it. The idea that central state control matters reappears in what has been called the "federal" strand of multilevel governance (Piattoni, 2010: 24). Scholars dominating this view include Hooghe and Marks (2001), who call their own theory a post-functionalist approach to multilevel governance. Here, regional government mobilisation occurs in the "shadow of state hierarchy", i.e. the central state control continues to be the key determinant of whether bypassing can occur (George, 2004: 117): More gatekept regions would participate less, while less gatekept regions would participate more. Similarly, multiple intergovernmentalist scholars concede that central state control has been transformed and, in some cases, undermined (see for example Bache, 2005: 14; Bache & Flinders, 2004: 199-200; and Jessop, 2004: 64). Regions *have* moved into Brussels, and so their mobilisation must be acknowledged. Scholars on both sides thus actually concede that the other is correct to some extent.

The empirical reality behind these claims is still unclear. Gatekeeping as a concept remains rather underdeveloped (Bache & Bristow, 2003: 406), and much of this can be seen in how the two sides empirically engage with it. First, both sides routinely study gatekeeping as the *outcome* of a bargaining game (see for example Bache, 1996; Marks, Hooghe & Blank, 1996; Hooghe & Marks, 2001). The findings therefore centre around whether the central state was dominant in the policy process. Much less attention is placed on the more nuanced question of *when* and *how* gatekeeping keeps regional governments from participating. That is, central state control is not studied as a causal factor on bypassing, but instead as an alternative outcome. If gatekeeping is, for example, seen as a tactic of a national government, then it is clearer how the two might co-exist: a regional government might remain unaffected by the national

government's tactic, and bypass in spite of gatekeeping. Second, there is an intense focus specifically on cohesion policy as an if-Europe-of-the-Regions-works-anywherethen-it-would-be-here type of case study (Bache, 1998: 23; Bache, 2015: 260-261). This scholarship neglects the fact that bypassing can occur also outside of specific policy negotiations, e.g. regions have established permanent offices in Brussels and routinely lobby through these. Agenda-setting is also lobbying, which can be used to either get something on or keep something off the negotiation table (Young, 2015: 53-54). It is therefore not enough to consider Europe of the Regions as something that only happens inside specific policy negotiations. For these reasons, the works of these original scholars do not really showcase the extent to which gatekeeping might impact bypassing.

Gatekeeping has also been studied implicitly, through the concept of *(de)centralisation of power* (see Marks, Haesly & Mbaye, 2002; Moore, 2007; Tatham, 2010; Donas & Beyers, 2012; Beyers & Donas, 2014; Greenwood, 2011; Lindh, 2018; Antunes & Magone, 2020; Jerneck & Gidlund, 2001). In these cases, the literature suffers three major data problems which lead the findings to not be generalisable.

First, there is an intense overfocus on the UK and Germany as case studies of how a gatekept and a non-gatekept region might act (see Kern & Bulkeley, 2009; Bomberg & Peterson, 1998; Bache, 1996; Bache & Bristow, 2003; Pollack, 1995; Dickson, 2014; Rowe, 2011; Blatter et al., 2008; Burch & Gomez, 2002; Gibbs et al., 2001). The problem here is that the analysis fails to move beyond these cases. If the increased activity of German Länder are due to a lack of gatekeeping, then one would expect the literature to move into studies of this across the EU, and not just as regards Germany. The depiction of the UK as a (successfully) gatekept nation is also problematic considering the fact British regions were the first to establish regional offices in Brussels - meaning they catalysed contemporary regional mobilisation at an EU-level (Jerneck & Gidlund, 2001: 63-64).

The second and biggest problem is that the literature seems to know much less about the regional governments that do *not* mobilise on an EU-level. The quantitative part of the literature is overly reliant on surveying regional governments through their liaison offices in Brussels (see Marks, Haesly & Mbaye, 2002: Tatham, 2010; Callanan & Tatham, 2014; Chalmers, 2013), meaning inactive regions are systematically excluded from analysis. Liaison offices are the most expensive and ambitious form of regional lobbying (Rowe, 2011: 44). These studies therefore only speak about the highflyers of bypassing and can say very little about what led the excluded regional governments to be excluded in the first place. Similarly, this might hide changes that have occurred over time: if the pool of cases increases but the change in behaviour or circumstance is not recorded, then regional government behaviour might look static.

Third and finally, despite the strong theoretical link between gatekeeping and bypassing, the empirical results have been rather ambiguous. While case studies of Germany and the UK have highlighted the important constraining power of gatekeeping (Bomberg & Peterson, 1998), multiple quantitative studies have come back with both insignificant results (Tatham, 2013; Tatham, 2015) and results in the opposite direction (Tatham, 2010). These studies differ somewhat in their measurement of "bypassing", sometimes considering it influence and other times regional activities that conflict with the national government, but the point about a lack of empirical consensus still holds. I go beyond this by investigating the concept of gatekeeping more thoroughly, not just as one big measure of centralisation of power, but also through its individual components. In this way, I am able to offer an explanation to the ambiguous findings in the literature.

I do not seek to falsify either theory as much as I seek to quantify both by analysing the nuances of how the main force in the intergovernmental argument, namely gatekeeping, impacts the main force in the multilevel governance argument, namely bypassing. Theories are ultimately just spectacles that organise the world around us. What these two sides differ on is therefore, more than anything, *perspective*. Even if central state control remains rather intact, multilevel governance scholarship still provided something of intrinsic value to the academic discourse. Namely, it shifted the focus away from state-centricity and suggested that subnational actors are worthy of study as well. It was this fresh perspective that forced state-centred authors to come up with new ways of framing their proposition, and this time they had to consider an actor that otherwise would have gone unmentioned. I seek to bridge the gap between these theories and to extract the notion of how the remnants of central state control might impact regional mobilisation. For the sake of simplicity, I dub these concepts gatekeeping and bypassing, since these are simple terms that already are commonly used for the concepts at hand. By analysing the empirical relation between the concepts across a wide set of European regions, I am able to provide a nuanced and practical analysis.

This section has situated the puzzle of gatekeeping and bypassing as being at the core of how to understand regional mobilisation at the EU-level. I argued that although these theories might initially be seen as diametrically opposed to each other, in reality both sides concede the others' main point to some degree. The concepts of gatekeeping and bypassing are then used to encapsulate broader influences: *gatekeeping* represents the remnants of central state control while *bypassing* represents the activities of regional mobilisation at an EU-level. The empirical literature suffers one bias in focus and another in case selection which limits these findings.

This paper finds itself in the middle of this debate, seeking to develop and operationalise gatekeeping and bypassing to investigate the empirical reality behind them. The core objective is therefore to look at *how*, in the broader EU system, state gatekeeping impacts regional bypassing. This question is crucial to anyone who seeks to draw any tangible conclusions on why regions (do not) mobilise in the EU, because the answer relates to both the choice and capacity of regions to act. If gatekeeping consistently constrains bypassing, then there may not be an equal playing field for

regional government mobilisation after all. And if gatekeeping does not constrain bypassing, then credence is given to the idea that the EU doors are now open.

The next section will elaborate on what the concepts of gatekeeping and bypassing actually mean.

2.1 Gatekeeping: central state control

To make the concept of state gatekeeping more tangible, I would like to start with an example.

In Hungary, the regional structure of governance is made up of twenty counties including Budapest. These counties' governments are directly elected and had, for a long time, extensive autonomy that was constitutionally protected (Schakel, 2021).

In 2011, this all changed. The Orbán administration overhauled the entire political system with constitutional reform that significantly bit into the autonomy of regional governments (Schakel, 2021; Hajnal & Rosta, 2019). The list of changes is long and cover not just competences and finances, but also metagovernance: changes to regional government autonomy no longer require a supermajority in the national parliament, and the regions themselves have no input on the rules of the game (Schakel, 2021: 1, 3). These reforms are quite transparently a central government power-grab seeking to secure state sovereignty (Hajnal & Rosta, 2019: 423).

This disenfranchisement of subnational governments might also impact how Hungary's regions interact in the broader EU system: The regions no longer have competence on the policies on which they might previously have lobbied (Hajnal & Rosta, 2019: 415); the regions have reduced funding, making the expensive activity of lobbying perhaps more difficult to fit in a constrained budget (Hajnal & Rosta, 2019: 418); with less protection for and fewer staff, these regions might be less able to keep up interregional networks and partnerships (Hajnal & Rosta, 2019: 417-418, 419); and the central state even replaced the individual Hungarian regional offices in Brussels with one centralised one, directly reducing the independent lobbying of the regions (Brusis, 2014: 314). This centralisation of power ought to lead overall to a disenfranchisement of the Hungarian regional voice in the EU, making the Hungarian position in the EU more centralised, and making sure the regional governments do not undermine this national position.

In other words, these moves to centralise power are instances of *gatekeeping*.

The concept of gatekeeping is surprisingly underdeveloped in the literature (Bache & Bristow, 2003: 406). In the previous section I showed that it can refer to the general idea that central state control or sovereignty still matters in determining whether

regional governments can mobilise on an EU-level. The causal link suggested is therefore that where state gatekeeping is high, regional bypassing should be low, or that where state gatekeeping is occurring, regional bypassing should not be occurring, depending on how intense you believe the relationship to be.

An ambiguity plagues the gatekeeping literature that makes it difficult to pin down a clearer definition of the term. The ambiguity is this: Gatekeeping scholars focus on the control of the state, but make no effort in distinguishing between the "state" as pertaining to the institutional set-up of a country and the "state" as in the national executive that currently runs the uppermost level of it (Marks, Hooghe & Blank, 1996: 347). The literature is also unclear on whether or not gatekeeping is a deliberate act that is taken at a specific point in time (as in Bache & Bristow, 2003), or if it is instead a feature of the system, that regional governments find themselves in at all times (as in Bomberg & Peterson, 1998). Taking the case of Hungary as an example, what made this story symptomatic of gatekeeping is one of two things: either it was the disenfranchisement of the regional governments per say – indicative of a more general reading of gatekeeping; or it was the fact that this was a *deliberate act* of the *national* government. Interestingly enough, either reading brings about approximately the same understanding of gatekeeping, namely that it at least in part amounts to a centralisation of power at the state level. In these next paragraphs, I hope to explain how this happens, by focusing on and building on Bache's (1996) definition of the state as a gatekeeper, which is arguably the most well-cited definition of the term.

To disprove the claims by Marks, Hooghe and others (Marks et al., 1996; Hooghe & Marks, 2001; Marks, Hooghe & Blank, 1996; Marks, Haesly & Mbaye, 2002; Keating et al., 2015) of a Europe of the Regions, intergovernmentalist scholars such as Bache (1996) and Pollack (1995) set up a "gatekeeping" hypothesis that drew on earlier intergovernmentalist writings of Hoffmann (1982) and Moravcsik (1993). In their arsenal was the two-level game (Putnam, 1988), which posits that the EU is actually classically intergovernmental: decisions made in the EU involve the national government bargaining domestically to reach a national position, and internationally to reach an agreement across countries. The domestic and the international table never meet, and the central state is the funnel portraying the position of one group to the other (Tatham, 2016: 5; Bache, 1996: 24; Putnam, 1988; Hooghe & Marks, 2001). Domestic state relations therefore remain the key barrier to regional mobilisation. The central state remains an effective *gatekeeper* of regional bypassing (Piattoni, 2010: 3).

In practical terms, Bache refers to gatekeeping as the "national government dominance of the policy process" (Bache, 1996: 55). He adds the word *extended* because he wants to show that this dominance exists not just in policy formulation but also in implementation. The extended gatekeeper therefore exudes dominance over the subnational governments in all stages of the policy process (Bache, 1996: 32). The factors that cause this dominance in turn are the relative centralisation of power in

terms of political power, financial power, informational resources, and power in terms of metagovernance i.e. the redesigning of the other powers (Bache, 1996).

Bache (1996) therefore uses both conceptions of a state (institutional set-up vis-àvis national executive): His outcome is centred around the national executive, but the factors that determined this success concerned the broader conception of the institutional set-up of a country. Furthermore, the factors that led to the successful gatekeeping were already prevalent in the background, endemic to the system rather than a deliberate act.

Bache's definition is arguably underdeveloped. The weakness of the definition comes partly from the fact that it is seen as an end-state, and so what he considers determinants of gatekeeping are arguably more indicative of gatekeeping itself. In Bache's conception, if gatekeeping happens, it is successful, since it refers to no more than a dominance over the negotiation process. Crucially, an end-state definition cannot be used to measure the causal impact of gatekeeping on bypassing.

There are two more ways in which Bache's definition should be developed.

First, gatekeeping is not just about a national government being dominant in determining the outcome of a negotiation, rather it is about being the *keeper of keys* who determines who gets to participate in the first place (Piattoni, 2010: 3). Essentially, gatekeeping involves barring other players from even having a seat at the table (Barzilai-Nahon, 2011; Piattoni, 2010: 3). If regional governments can go directly to regions in other countries, to the EU institutions, or directly to other heads of state or government, then the common position is broken, and the state failed to effectively gatekeep the bargaining process. This makes the national position itself weaker, as other players know the national position of the gatekeeper and the gatekept to be fragmented. Therefore, gatekeeping is not just about influencing the outcome, but also the procedure of negotiations.

Second, Bache does not consider the hierarchy between state and region. Gatekeeping requires the pre-existence of some kind of hierarchical relationship between the gatekeeper and the gatekept – there has to be some control which the gatekeeper holds that the gatekept does not have access to. When it comes to states, this is the ability of the national government to change the constitutional set-up of a country, to redefine the relation between the region and the centre. In many countries, this is a unilateral decision of the national government, while in others, regional governments have some input (Hooghe et al., 2016: 96-97, Appendix). In both cases, the national government holds much of the control. This is why Bache's determinants of gatekeeping (the centralisation of power in national-regional relations) actually are better measures of gatekeeping itself: when power is centralised, and regions do not have an input either on policies or their own constitutional standing, they are given by the state structure a specific role. This conceptualisation is not unprecedented: Bomberg and Peterson (1998) close the gap between dominance and the cause of it

when testing how the constitutional standing of regions – explicitly an operationalisation of the state-centred approach – impact their ability to bypass.

These aspects, when combined, reach the core of the gatekeeping argument. According to Pollack (2015), Member States (successfully) act as gatekeepers when they control the "inroads of both the Commission and sub-national governments into the traditional preserve of state sovereignty" (Pollack, 2015: 37). That is, gatekeeping should be seen as the retaining of state sovereignty, which, when successful, preserves the dominant position of the gatekeeper in the two-level game by making sure the two tables never meet directly but that each tables' position is channelled through the gatekeeper (Tatham, 2016: 5, 20).

I hope to now have shown how gatekeeping amounts to a centralisation of power, and that it can be read either as a deliberate power grab by the central state, or as a state structure that a regional government finds itself in. When gatekeeping is considered a deliberate power grab, many more informal gatekeeping activities can be thought up: a national government might suggest that regions should not break the national position in the Council, or they might suggest that it is not in the regional government's budget to lobby the EU.

Both readings of gatekeeping are legitimate, and I suggest referring to them as structural vis-à-vis specific gatekeeping. Future research should study both, but the focus of this paper is solely on the structural type. By using this definition, I am able to showcase how the broader argument of "state control matters" plays out in practice. The focus is therefore much less on tactics or deliberate attempts at gatekeeping, and more on how effective these formal constraints are to begin with. That being said, future research should look into the more specific attempts at gatekeeping, and a good place to start might be with the 2011 Hungarian constitutional reform.

In the above section, I have laid out the core concept of gatekeeping and explained how it amounts to the distribution of power between the national and the regional. Structural gatekeeping is therefore the relative centralisation of power in a state, when these concern regional government activities (Bache, 1996; Pollack, 1995; Keating et al., 2015).

2.2 Bypassing: regional government participation

I return now for a moment to the case of Hungary. Karacsóny, mayor of Budapest, has for multiple years fought Orbán's administration, and the fight is not just domestic. Together with the mayors of Bratislava, Warsaw and Prague, Karacsóny brought the fight to the European arena in 2019, when signing the Pact of Free Cities and pledging to protect liberal democracy and sustainable development. Together, this pact lobbies the EU for funding to uphold liberal values in their countries (Politico, 2020). The pact is open to other European cities that wish to circumvent their national governments (the Guardian, 2019).

Hungary's gatekeeping attempts did not just fail to be effective for the capital-city, it may actually have led to an *acceleration* of regional cooperation and a strengthening of the regional position in the EU. Where the central government took away regional resources, these mayors pooled their resources together and mobilised their interests on an EU-level. The pact might not have directly changed a policy outcome in the Council of Ministers, but the county of Budapest now has an independent network from which to pool information, and to signal to other governments and regions that Budapest will implement certain EU policies even if the Hungarian government promises not to. Essentially, this pact has broken Hungary's position in the two-level game as neither Karacsóny, nor the EU institutions, are dependent on the provision of information from Orbán's national government. What is more, Budapest can and will defect from certain national positions they do not agree with, and the rest of Europe knows this.

In other words, bypassing accelerated.

The concept of bypassing developed in EU scholarship as the argument that regional mobilisation is on the rise, and it is well-established in two bodies of literature: multilevel governance (see for example Keating et al., 2015; Ansell, Parsons & Darden, 1997; Piattoni, 2010; Moore 2007) and paradiplomacy (see for example Rowe, 2011 and Tatham's works). Some authors use the word bypassing, while others do not. Bypassing is broadly synonymous to paradiplomacy in that it refers to the foreign policies of subnational governments, but the specific element of interest in bypassing is this: it refers to the *direct* communications between the subnational and the transor supranational level that *circumvent* or *neglect* to interact with the national government (Tatham, 2010: 78). That is, it is a mobilisation of interests that bypasses the national government and goes directly to the European level, in the case of regions in the EU (Rowe, 2011: 4). This activity is considered by multilevel governance scholars as challenging the traditional role of nations, while paradiplomacy scholars seem to put less emphasis on this implication (see Tatham, 2010: 77).

While this broader picture of bypassing meaning direct linkages is clear, there are two main issues on what this might mean in practice.

The first is whether bypassing activities have to defy the national government, or if it is enough that they occur outside the confines of national structures. Tatham (2013) argues that bypassing should be considered a subtype of paradiplomacy, where regional governments "promote interests that had been ignored or blocked by their own member state" (Tatham, 2013: 64). That is, bypassing circumvents the national government not just in the method of mobilisation, but in content as well. He goes on to say that bypassing is a broader term and that therefore he is more interested in using the term "conflicting interest representation", and so ultimately, he does not fully

suggest that conflict is necessary for an activity to be considered bypassing. Nevertheless, I will now examine the idea that what it is conflicting vis-à-vis cooperative bypassing that should be looked at – that the nature of the activities ultimately matter.

When considering the original proposition of gatekeeping and bypassing, it arguably becomes clear that conflict is not actually necessary for bypassing to occur. Bypassing is about breaking away from the hierarchies of state sovereignty. Establishing independent informational channels and infrastructure to communicate directly on an international arena is in and of itself breaking away from this hierarchy, because the central state is unable to filter the flow of information. That is, the control has slipped the central state. What Tatham (2016) sees as 'cooperation' rather than bypassing, I argue is instead a partnership of equals between state and region. This is because once a region is engaged in lobbying at an EU-level, the central state is unable to control what that region is saying or doing. The core of the two-level game has been undermined: Bypassing is occurring – the rest is just the strategy of the regional government. There is therefore no need to distinguish between strategies when examining how structural gatekeeping impacts bypassing; it is the activity overall that can be gatekept, not the strategy pursued under this activity.

The second dichotomy concerns the outcome of bypassing: whether participation is enough or if the activity needs to lead to influence over a policy decision. This proposition was not necessarily in the original bypassing literature, where for example Marks et al. (1996) talked about mobilization of domestic actors rather than influence of them. The idea that policy influence is necessary for something to be considered bypassing comes instead implicitly through the gatekeeping criticism, where the dominance of the national government in influencing the policy outcome is seen as a non-event of bypassing (as in Bache, 1996). But bypassing can serve multiple goals, and policy-specific influence is too narrow of an approach. This is for two main reasons.

First, influence should be conceived as broader than influencing the final wording of a legal text under negotiation. If anything, this bias in focus necessarily stacks the cards against the regional governments and in favour of the national government: regional governments are not the most active during a Council negotiation, their influence is more pervasive than that (see Moore, 2007: 8-9). There is also influence before the proposal ever reaches the bargaining table. For example, the agenda-setting power in being able to get a topic on the agenda or keeping a topic off the agenda (Young, 2015: 53-54). These things cannot be measured by looking only at the final outcome of a legal text. There is also influence in implementation, especially regarding directives, where the legal text itself does not determine the implementation (Young, 2015: 63).

Second, influence might not even be the goal of bypassing. Rather, the regional government might seek autonomy and independence, as in the rationale for the Pact

of Free Cities. Establishing independent channels of information can have huge importance for the autonomy of a regional government that feels under-represented or overruled by its national government. It can also lead to alliances with other regional governments, the EU institutions or even other heads of state or government. These aspects can undermine the national government and its position in bargaining contexts, not to mention the fact that they may very well be worthy goals in and of themselves (Rowe, 2011: 106). The goals of bypassing should therefore be conceived of as broader conceptions of influence and independence, that are not possible to measure as easily as through a bargaining agreement.

Summing up this discussion, bypassing is here seen as regional government participation at an EU-level, when this occurs outside the channels of the national government. It is about extra-national connections with actors outside the state, and mainly concerns informal activities such as lobbying in various forms, although it may also include activities through formal institutions such as the Committee of the Regions.

2.3 What other explanations are there?

Before delving into the expectations and more practical aspects of gatekeeping and bypassing, it is necessary to deliberate on what other factors – other than gatekeeping – that might impact bypassing. Some of the authors mentioned below write about bypassing as conflicting interest representation, but the logic of each factor holds also for my conception of bypassing. The factors mentioned here will be the basis for the control variables used in the analysis, which serve to make sure that the relationship between gatekeeping and bypassing is not incidental.

The first explanation to consider is geographical and demographic characteristics of the region in question. The two main types are population and gross domestic product (GDP), at times together with landmass. The hypothesis is that bigger regions in absolute terms (both population and GDP) also bypass more (Tatham, 2010: 79; Tatham, 2013: 69; Tatham, 2015: 389), because they have more of an incentive to make their voice heard, both in terms of economic power and representation (Tatham, 2010: 79). When measuring the size of the region as a share of the national, the direction of the relationship is ambiguous. Tatham (2010) hypothesised that a greater relative size in terms of GDP, population and geography ought to lead a region to cooperate more with the national government, and bypass less, because they can more easily influence the national polity and therefore would use national channels of influence (Tatham, 2010: 79). This idea was not empirically supported at first (Tatham, 2010), but found support in later articles (Tatham, 2013; Tatham, 2015). On another note of regional characteristics, it has been suggested that more culturally

distinctive regions might be more independent from the national context and therefore seek to bypass more (Tatham, 2015; Moore, 2007). Neither article reported the findings for these factors, but it could be hypothesised that for example island regions, metropolitan regions, and border regions might bypass more due to a sense of independence or detachment from the national polity vis-à-vis the international sphere.

A second major category of explanations is that of a region's perception of the EU. The broad category can be envisioned partly as the salience of the EU: regional dependency on EU-funding (Beyers & Donas, 2014), Europeanisation levels of a specific policy-area (Tatham, 2015 – turned out to not matter) and even an individual official's EU embeddedness (Tatham, 2015 – did matter). If a region has a populace that is interested in what the EU can do for the region, it makes sense for that region to participate more actively in Brussels. A region where the population trusts the EU but does not trust the national government is more likely to bypass that national government and go to the EU. Similarly, if EU salience is low, it makes sense for the region to not spend resources going to Brussels. Outside of the general population, the salience of the EU to civil society and business might also matter. I.e. regions where civil society and business lobby the EU might be expected to also lobby the EU. The logic is one of representation and electoral gains. I therefore bring it with me to the analysis of gatekeeping and bypassing.

Similarly, a third set of explanations deal with the relationship between the regional and the national. Some of these concern party-political constellations, such as whether the regional party is nationalist or regionalist (Tatham, 2013), and whether the regional governing party is in opposition to the national government (Tatham, 2010; Tatham, 2013; Tatham, 2015; Moore 2007). Regions that are more in conflict with the national government are more likely to bypass and go directly to Brussels looking for likeminded regions. However, Tatham's articles returned insignificant results, and Moore (2007) never tests these factors. Another angle is that of whether the regional government officials are nationally embedded, and whether they see the national government as policy allies, but these too have come back as insignificant in explaining regional activity (Tatham, 2015). Finally, a third angle is to look at the national government's leverage in EU decision-making, where regions in countries with more leverage would be less likely to bypass and more likely to use the influential domestic channels. However, this too was insignificant when measured by Tatham (2013). Despite rarely showing up as significant explanations, scholars often refer to these as important factors, and so I bring this with me in the form of the populace's trust in the region vis-à-vis the national government on EU issues.

A fourth set of explanations concern the institutionalisation of the region in Brussels. The biggest one is how long the country has been an EU Member State (Tatham, 2013; Tatham, 2010). Length of membership did not matter in either of the two articles, but Jerneck and Gidlund (2001) suggest that accession of new Member States was the main factor driving the second and third wave of regional office establishments, as in regions in the new Member States also established offices (65). Expanding on this, regions with a longer history in the EU are likely to have more of a routine in actively participating in EU policies. Other aspects of institutionalisation are the status of the region in Brussels; for example whether the regional staff have diplomatic accreditation (Tatham, 2013) The idea is that regions with accreditation are "expected to behave as state officials" and therefore cooperate with their national governments rather than bypass (Tatham, 2013: 66). Similarly, regions with the right to appeal decisions in the Court of Justice of the EU would cooperate more with their national government and bypass less, through the mechanism that national governments would be more attentive to the regions' wishes in these cases (Tatham, 2013: 67). The Appeal rights turned out a non-significant factor in Tatham's 2013 paper, and the cause of the diplomatic accreditation is not clear enough to warrant inclusion: is this diplomatic accreditation ensured in the constitution of certain countries, or handed out to regions' that have actively sought it? If it is the former, it is more so a measure of gatekeeping, and if the latter, it is rather an outcome of active regions lobbying for their own position.

From this I take with me elements of each as alternative (or complementary) explanations to be controlled for in the final analyses. What precise measurements were used will be detailed in chapter 4. Before this however, I will first discuss in detail how to spot gatekeeping and bypassing, and what the expected findings are.

3 What to look for and what to expect from gatekeeping and bypassing

The debate of regional participation in the EU is indicative of a broader discussion of what the EU system is and how it functions. This discussion can be pinned down to the key question of what actually remains of central state control (state gatekeeping) in keeping a two-level game going (by limiting regional bypassing)? Where the literature has been dominated by end-state definitions, I go beyond this and showcase the nuances of how gatekeeping might influence bypassing. In doing so, I have developed two versions of gatekeeping hidden in the literature and focus on what I refer to as structural gatekeeping. The question in terms of causation is not whether or not gatekeeping and bypassing occur, but how the latter is impacted (perhaps even constrained) by the former.

I have in the above section given initial ideas about what these concepts mean, but further explanations are needed before tangible concepts to be empirically studied can be derived. This section will operationalise the two concepts and review the possible outcomes of the analysis.

3.1 Spotting bypassing

Bypassing comes in many different forms of activities. Below, I will go through what the literature highlights as some of the key bypassing activities that I have opted to include in my analysis.

The first type of activity is perhaps the most often mentioned, namely the establishment of regional, or liaison, offices in Brussels (George, 2004: 115, Rowe, 2011). These regional representations are permanent physical structures, which serve both to lead to direct lobbying but also to give the region in question an 'in' to what is in the pipelines of EU policymaking. Simultaneously, these offices are the most expensive and ambitious form of lobbying (Rowe, 2011: 44), due to the costs of renting or owning a locale and keeping permanent staff in Brussels. These offices used to be rare but are now common practice. Some countries see individual regions establishing an office alone or in groups of two or three, while others establish one regional association office for all regions in the country. Regional offices are permanent

structures, and although their influence in the EU is informal, their physical structure and permanent staff makes the lobbying more tangible. By including this I am able to capture more expensive and ambitious forms of bypassing.

A second type is formal yet ad hoc lobbying of specific policy proposals, namely participation in the public consultations hosted by the European Commission (Rowe, 2011: 35; Van Hecke, Bursens & Beyers, 2016). It is a relatively new phenomenon that is being increasingly used by regional governments (Van Hecke, Bursens & Beyers, 2016: 1434). Responding to public consultations is perhaps the cheapest form of lobbying and including it in the analysis has the benefit of capturing ambitious bypassing conducted despite limited resources, as well as bypassing that is limited to individual policies. It is also an understudied type of regional lobbying, despite its ability to show in an objective way how much a region participates.

The final type of activity involves not just lobbying the EU institutions but doing so in partnership with regions in other countries by becoming a member of international interregional networks (George, 2004: 115; Rowe, 2011: 52). These networks are not necessarily expensive to join, but it may be time consuming to keep up relations, meaning it requires staff. More importantly, it might in the long-term make interest representation cheaper for the regions, if they feel that the networks that they have joined are able to lobby the region's interests well. These networks also directly involve regional collaboration, meaning that the membership itself is an interesting form of bypassing, where the lobbying may not even be directed at EU institutions, but instead about forming networks and policy allies. By including membership in networks, I am able to include a second type of relatively inexpensive, but this time permanent, form of lobbying.

By including these three forms of lobbying, a wider set of bypassing activities can be captured: both ad hoc and permanent, both expensive and inexpensive. Although the list could be extended to include many more examples of activities (see George, 2004: 115), the three captured here are some of the most common in the literature that are also publicly available in terms of comparable data (Rowe 2011: 44, 52-53; George, 2004: 114; Van Hecke, Bursens & Beyers, 2016). The literature has tended towards surveying regional offices and simply asking them about their bypassing activities. While this helps capture nuance and activities that are not public record, surveys might exaggerate how active some regions are, making it less reliable as a comparative measure. I avoid this risk and ensure the validity of a comparison, while still going into detailed analysis of government activity.

3.2 Spotting gatekeeping

If structural gatekeeping is the centralisation of power in national-subnational relations, then there are two avenues to look for measurements of these: one is through the literature that explicitly looks at gatekeeping and its determinants, and the other is through the literature that looks at the impact of devolution of power on acts of bypassing. These will be combined in the below section to discuss different elements of gatekeeping.

First, gatekeeping overall concerns the relative autonomy of the regional government. This is by Bache (1996) considered the general dependence of the regional government on the national, and it concerns the distribution of power in a country. This concerns issues such as policy competence, financial authority, legislative capacities, and representative abilities. All of these make up the general centralisation of power in a country (Hooghe et al., 2016), and by considering all as one overarching measure of structural gatekeeping, it is possible to see how gatekeeping impacts bypassing.

Second, gatekeeping may be divided into two relational aspects of centralisation of power, namely *autonomy* over the own region as opposed to *influence* over national policy. This is often divided into self-rule and shared rule (Hooghe et al., 2016). For example, financial gatekeeping can either be the decision-making power of a region to decide on its own financing, or its ability to influence the national government's financial decisions, especially when these affect the region. The expectations for how self-rule and shared rule might affect the bypassing abilities of the regional government are quite different. This, and other expectations, will be discussed in the next section.

Elaborating on these self- and shared rule aspects more thoroughly, three different form of gatekeeping can be derived.

The first is, similar to self-rule, the general policy competence and institutional depth of a regional government. That is, the width and depth of regional governance in the own region. Bache (1996) captures this through his measurement of political resources, namely the ability of the national vis-à-vis the regional government to make and decide on policy (Bache, 1996: 55). The mechanism of gatekeeping is simply the fact that where regional governments do not have competence to act, they also would lack competence to lobby.

The second of the three is specifically isolating financial authority from both selfand shared rule. This asks questions such as: if a regional government cannot tax its own population, can it influence or vote on the national decision on taxation in the region? The same question goes for borrowing: if a region cannot borrow money on its own, is it at least consulted on the borrowing constraints that apply to it? Rather than looking at these factors of financial gatekeeping separately as self- or shared rule, these can be investigated together. Finally, the third form of gatekeeping is similar to shared-rule and focuses on the legal and constitutional influence of a region on national policies. Can it redefine its own competences? Is it consulted on the national position in the EU? Does it have voting rights on national legislation? This final form of gatekeeping, as will be seen in the next section, might have a different impact on bypassing than do the other forms.

3.3 What to expect

The overall expectations that gatekeeping scholars vis-à-vis regionalist scholars have are effectively summarised by Piattoni (2010):

"The state-centric (intergovernmentalist) model expects transnational contacts among regions to be scarce; member-states to be effective gatekeepers of the relations between subnational actors and European institutions; and the nature and intensity of these contacts to be determined by national institutions and practices. This is the scenario of a *Europe des patries*, in which politics are elitist. The supranational (neo-functionalist) model expects subnational mobilization to directly challenge state power and instead support supranational authority; to be policy-specific but to spill over from one policy area to the next; and to gradually build an 'uninterrupted and uniform subnational political tier' (Hooghe 1995: 178). This is the scenario of a Europe of the regions, in which politics are pluralist." (Piattoni, 2010: 109)

That is, gatekeeping scholars expect gatekeeping to effectively constrain bypassing, while regionalist scholars expect regions to rise above this gatekeeping. As noted in an earlier section, many regionalist scholars concede that gatekeeping *does* play a role in constraining bypassing, so in actuality, this difference in expectation is better portrayed as a matter of degree. Regionalist scholars might expect gatekeeping to not be particularly effective, or not a particularly important determinant, while gatekeeping scholars would say it remains the main determinant. The expectation to be on the lookout for is either way the constraining effect of gatekeeping in bypassing.

Digging deeper, this original expectation becomes more ambiguous. Recall the division between autonomy over the region and influence over national politics. Some articles mainly include the former (Tatham, 2010; Tatham 2013), while other articles use both in one index (Tatham, 2015), suggesting that both are effective constrainers. Overall however, the discussion around the influence of shared rule has been low and many authors do not mention if they are referring to only self-rule or also shared rule.

In fact, there is an ambiguity in how shared rule (influence over the national polity) impacts bypassing. On one hand, a region that has a say on its own standing domestically is also more in charge of its own fate and could be more independent. There is therefore an expectation that these regions would have more ownership over

the competences delegated to them, and therefore they might also have more of an initiative to lobby the EU. EU lobbying would then not be a substitute but a complement to domestic lobbying. A region with a strong standing domestically could vote on the national position to be held in the Council, but if overruled at home it might still benefit from having an office in Brussels to voice its dissent to the other members of the Council, other regions, or the EU institutions.

The other side of this argument concerns how the mechanism of gatekeeping is viewed, which may be hypothesised to work in two different ways: either as a hard power – a disenfranchisement of powers that lead regional governments unable to bypass, either because they cannot afford it in terms of money or other resources, or in extreme cases because the national government has made such an activity illegal, as attempted by Spain and Italy in the 1980s (Jerneck and Gidlund, 2001: 102-103). The other way in which it might work is through soft power, namely incentives and suggestions: in this case, a national government might suggest to their regions that it would be outside their competence to lobby on policies on which they have no implementation power, or by instilling in them the importance of presenting a unified front in the Council.

Through this softer mechanism, the other effect of shared rule gatekeeping is visible: a region with a powerful standing domestically might be less inclined to go to Brussels, so long as they are able to influence the national government at home. Similarly, national governments who wish to keep the two-level game unbroken might focus on satisfying the regions at the domestic bargaining table, so that the regions have no incentive to bypass. This argument was suggested by Tatham (2010) to be the explanation of a relationship between overall autonomy and regional activities in Brussels that suggested that autonomous regions cooperated more with their national governments and pursued less conflicting lobbying. If this hypothesis also holds for bypassing activities overall, and shared rule effectively incentivises regions to not lobby the EU directly, then this is of great interest to future studies of deliberate and specific forms of gatekeeping.

The final expectation to be discussed concerns the isolating of financial factors from both self- and shared rule. This expectation builds on the idea that gatekeeping might work in a hard power form, where the disenfranchisement of resources leaves a region simply unable to bypass. If a region cannot set its own budget or change its own income structure by borrowing or taxing, then it can less flexibly add new expenses. Regions that are not in charge of their own finances could struggle to fit EU lobbying into their budget and daily workload. Because of this, I hypothesise this form of financial gatekeeping to be the most effective at constraining bypassing.

Summing up the expected findings, I will investigate whether there is a dual effect of gatekeeping, where increased centralisation of power might both constrain and incentivise regional government bypassing. The next section will discuss how I went about the analysis.

4 Analytical decisions

To study the impact of structural gatekeeping on bypassing, I have opted for a crosssectional statistical analysis. This kind of structural approach is fitting since the question itself is structural – *how does gatekeeping impact bypassing?* Does it impact it at all? In what direction? What aspects of gatekeeping are most important, and how do they stack up against other explanations of bypassing?

The previous section laid the grounds for how to spot gatekeeping and bypassing and elaborated on the expected findings. This section gets into the details of how this theoretical undertaking is translated into practical statistics: First, I ask the 'who' question – who are these regional governments? Second, I ask the 'what' question – what is the data I am dealing with? Finally, I return to the reasons for doing it this way at all, explaining my methods and answering the 'how' as well as the 'why' question.

4.1 ...who? Selecting regional governments

I close one crucial gap in the literature by structuring my case selection in the way that I do. Namely, the body of literature studying the activities of regions in Brussels have a tendency to pick their cases on the dependent variable, by only surveying regional offices *in* Brussels (see Marks, Haesly & Mbaye, 2002: Tatham, 2010; Callanan & Tatham, 2014; Chalmers, 2013). As noted in an earlier section, this is the most expensive and ambitious form of bypassing activity (Rowe, 2011: 44) and studying only regions with these offices may lead to an over-inflated sense that regional governments are truly very active and financially capable. I combat this by choosing not to survey only regions with regional offices, but rather making my own EU-wide index of regional governments.

My interest lies in the direct relationship between a national and a subnational government. When referring to regional governments, I therefore refer to the highest level of subnational government in each country. These may be considered local government in one country, and regional in another. There is little conceptual difference between local and regional governments, not least because governments that bear the same title can differ widely in function in different countries. Other structural differences such as size and constitutional standing are included in my analysis: the first as control variables and the second as explanatory factor. As such, I draw for my sample the highest level of subnational government from each EU country.

I define these subnational governments as permanent public authorities that are general-purpose administrations (rather than statistical units or task-specific bodies) that represent the population by having some element of direct election (OECD/UCLG, 2019: 9), whether that be in reference to the executive or the legislature. These two requirements weed out planning committees, assemblies and implementing bodies that merely consist of lower level government officials meeting to coordinate on specific issues, and instead I am able to capture regional governments that have a direct impetus and reason to represent their population and lobby the EU for policies that suit their preferences.

To draw this pool, I therefore have three conditions that must be fulfilled: first, that the authority in question is general-purpose¹; second, that the regional government is in some way directly elected²; and that once all authorities that fulfil the prior two are pulled for each country, I include the highest level of subnational government³.

My sample is therefore an effort at capturing the whole population of uppermost regional governments in the EU. In terms of data availability, I relied on these regions being present in the Regional Authority Index (Hooghe et al., 2016), because this dataset is what I am using to measure gatekeeping. This index does not collect data for regions where the average population is less than 150 000 unless the region has a special status in the country (Hooghe et al., 2016). Similarly, my control variables relied on regions not cutting across NUTS levels (based on Eurostat, 2020). NUTS regions are geographical regions used by the EU to collect consistent statistics across the EU and time, and regional governments that cut across NUTS regions had to be excluded from the final analysis in order to make sure the control variables used were valid measurements for the region.

I collect data for 2018, with the exception of public consultations which was collected for 2019 due to better data availability for this year. While my design is unable to capture developments over time, a cross-sectional approach is the most fitting considering the ambiguous standing of gatekeeping overall, and especially in terms of the contemporary EU system of governance.

The final sample consisted of 298 regions across nineteen countries. The missing countries are generally on the smaller side: Cyprus, Malta, Luxembourg, the Baltic states, and Slovenia, but also includes two slightly larger countries, namely Bulgaria and Ireland.

¹ Using *institutional depth* in the Regional Auhority Index (Hooghe et al., 2016)

² Using *representation* in the Regional Authority Index (Hooghe et al., 2016)

³ As defined by OECD (OECD/UCLG, 2019) and the Regional Authority Index (Hooghe et al., 2016).

The lack of cross-country comparable data on small regional and local governments is a problem in broader political science that I have done my best to overcome. Sampling bias reduces the generalisability of the findings, and in this case the question is how much of a conclusion can be drawn from this research about smaller local governments. While my sample has a cut-off point for smaller governments, it is important to note that the sampling bias is not gradual and not persistent throughout the actually selected cases. That is, any regional government for which there was data was included – no matter size. This means that the final sample still has a large variation in the size of the regions, as the smallest region is Åland with 29 489 inhabitants (data available because it is a special region), and the largest being North Rhine-Westphalia with close to eighteen million.

Overall, my sample consists of a large number of regions that cover a large number of countries, and within this sample I have regions that differ widely in size, autonomy, relation to the national government and other relevant factors. These aspects will be included in the analyses to make sure they are controlled for. The missing data on smaller local government is unfortunate but not a problem isolated to this paper, and my method of case selection remains a step up from the tendency of the literature to sample on the dependent variable. The generalisability of my findings ought to be high so long as one makes a note to not draw too many conclusions about specifically small local government.

4.2 ... what? Data and measurements

4.2.1 Bypassing

To measure bypassing, I score the regions on three components: regional offices in Brussels; responses to public consultations; and memberships in international interregional networks. These three indicators of bypassing were then combined in different indices, described in Table 1.

	Brussels office	Public consultations	Network membership	Empirical range and Comment
Index 1	0 or 1 point.	0 or 1 point.	0 or 1 point.	0-3. Shows width but not depth of bypassing.
Index 2	0 or 10 points.	Scale from 0-10.	Scale from 0- 10.	0-25. Ensures that public consultations and networks are not exaggerated but pits the performance of regions against each other.
Index 3	0 or 5 points.	0, 2 or 3 points per consultation	0 or 1 point per network.	0-39. Does not pit regions against each other. Shows the importance of consultations, but therefore also potentially overscores them.
Index 4	0 or 5 points.	0 or 1 point per consultation.	0 or 1 point per network.	0-15. Addresses overscoring of consultations and does not pit performances against each other.

Table 1. Bypassing indices

The first index asked the question of whether the region has participated in these activities at all. Regions scored 1 point for having a Brussels office, one point for being a member of *any* network, and one point for responding to *any* public consultation. This index helps highlight the width rather than depth of bypassing activities, since it equates the act of having a Brussels office with responding to one public consultation or being a member of one network.

The second index is where Brussels offices shine. In this, a region could score anywhere between zero and ten points on each type of activity. The score of each region is decided by the empirical range, meaning the lowest scoring region gets no points and the highest scoring one gets ten, on each component. These were added together for the final index, which theoretically ran between zero and thirty, but the empirical range was between zero and twenty-five. This index ensures that best practice in each component is equivalent across components.

The third index used a half-weighted approach. It scored a regional government five points for having a regional office, one point per network membership, and two or three points per public consultation response. This index lifts up the importance of Brussels offices without pitting regional performances against each other, but it has the limitation of inflating the importance of public consultations.

The fourth and final index is identical to the third except it accounts for this overscoring of public consultations. Here, a region could score only one point per public consultation response.

Each index thus has something to offer depending on where the focus is put, and I run my analyses against all four. For the sake of simplicity, I have decided to present in tables only the findings for the final index, but my findings hold across all models. I will now explain where the data came from and how the scores were assigned.

Data on regional offices were collected using Committee of the Regions factsheets (Committee of the Regions; n.d). This was checked against transparency registry data

(European Commission, 2018) to ascertain that the data was relevant for 2018.⁴ I scored a region a point for having an office, and no points for not having one. Some regions have shared offices with their municipalities, or with one or two regions close by. I score these smaller shared offices a point as well, since regional offices in Brussels show both lobbying infrastructure and initiative. I do not, however, score bigger joint offices that attempt to cover all the regions of the country in one office. This is because these national organisations cannot really be assumed to be the activities of regional governments, as the regions are automatically covered.

For public consultations, some data for 2019 was available online, and I requested all remaining missing data in August and September. Some applications were continuously extended, and others came back with key information redacted. Upon analysing the documents, it also became clear that the amount of consultations on the Commission website was inflated, as many consultations were not unique but bundled multiple proposals in one. My final sample consisted of 62 unique public consultations, out of roughly 71 altogether.

I initially scored a region three points for responding alone (it could be the region itself or a region's responsible governmental department or ministry), and two points for responding in a small group, for example with a neighbouring region. The goal was to always be able to attribute the response to the regional government per say, and therefore my initial inclusion of larger joint statements was excluded from the final analysis. If a region responded both alone and together with a neighbouring region, they would get points for both. This scoring system was used in index 3 as described in Table 1 (above). For index 5, I instead scored a region only one point for responding, whether that be alone or in the small group. This reduces some nuance in showing extra active regions but was used as an added measure to make sure I was not exaggerating the importance of public consultations. The scoring assumes that regional governments do not respond anonymously, and since the type of organisation is still visible in anonymous replies, it was clear that this was not a major issue.

Finally, I examined entries in the transparency registry to extract a list of EU-wide, interregional, international networks that regions can be active in (European Commission, 2018). I decided against including non-EU-wide networks in the final analysis, because many of these had particular criteria for membership that would have biased my results. For example, many of the policy-specific networks only allowed competent authorities from each Member State to be members. Had I included this in the analysis it would have rigged the results in favour of gatekeeping constraining bypassing, since only non-gatekept regions on that policy-area can be members. My final sample consisted of six large networks. While this proxy was suitable for this project, a larger study might have tried to find more networks by looking also to non-

⁴ Since running the analyses of this paper, an updated version of the list has been published. I checked if the new additions had an impact on one of my main models, but the results are near identical.

EU-wide networks, researching the membership criteria of these and trying to control for other relevant factors.

4.2.2 Gatekeeping

Gatekeeping is inversely measured in three different ways, based on 2018 data retrieved from the expert survey Regional Authority Index (Hooghe et al., 2016), which is arguably the best comparative measure of regional autonomy available (Tatham, 2015: 392-393).

Overall gatekeeping is measured through the composite index that shares the same name as the project: *Regional Authority Index (RAI)*. This index includes many measurements of (de)centralisation of power, where regions are scored on their competences, functions and capacities. The theoretical range of the index is between zero and thirty, while my cases score between five and twenty-seven.

The second way of viewing gatekeeping is autonomy over the own region vis-à-vis influence over the national. This is a pre-existing division in the RAI, scored as *self-rule* and *shared rule* respectively. *Self-rule* consists of *institutional depth, policy autonomy, representation, fiscal autonomy* and *borrow autonomy*. It runs theoretically between zero and eighteen, and in my sample between five and seventeen. *Shared rule* runs both theoretically and in my sample between zero and twelve. The components are *law-making, executive control, constitutional, borrow control* and *fiscal control.* Together, *self-rule* and *shared rule* make up the *RAI*. Note that the components of shared rule capture national policies that affect the region specifically (Hooghe et al., 2016), making it immediately relevant as a measure of gatekeeping.

The final way of looking at gatekeeping was to isolate 'financial authority' from self- and shared rule. Financial authority was measured through the components of *fiscal autonomy, borrow autonomy, fiscal control* and *borrow control*, leaving the remaining components of self-rule as 'general autonomy', and the remaining components of shared rule as 'legislative influence'. Financial authority has a theoretical range between zero and eleven, and in my sample between zero and nine. General autonomy runs theoretically between zero and eleven, and in my sample between five and eleven. Finally, legal influence runs both theoretically and in my sample between zero and eight (Hooghe et al., 2016). These are the three final measures of gatekeeping used in the analysis.

4.2.3 The other explanations

I then include control variables based on the literature.

Geographical and demographic characteristics of the region were measured in multiple ways. Data was retrieved from Eurostat. I measured 2018 GDP per capita in absolute and relative terms, where the relative measure was regional GDP per capita minus the national average (both using 2018 Euro per inhabitant data from Eurostat, 2021a). A positive score on the relative measure therefore indicates that the region is richer than the national average, and a negative indicates it is poorer. For population, I include three measures: first, the total population as of January 1, 2018; second, this number as a percentage of the total population of the country, meaning that a higher number here indicates that the region is bigger in terms of population (Eurostat, 2021b). Finally, population density is measured as number of persons per square km, where a higher number indicates a more metropolitan area (Eurostat, 2021c). I also include self-coded dummy variables about whether the region is an island region, and whether it is a border region (land-borders with other countries, internally or externally using Eurostat, n.d.). The idea for both of these is that regions on borders or islands may be more likely to engage in EU lobbying: border regions because of their close connection to other countries and therefore immediate connection to the single market. Similarly, island regions are likely to be more self-sufficient or feel more disconnected to national politics and may therefore be more likely to elbow-in on European ones.

The second and third category of control variables were derived from the issue of EU salience and regional-national relationships. I measured these in multiple ways.

On a country-level, I measured EU salience and EU lobbying culture through the proxy of how many entries were on the transparency registry from the country in question (European Commission, 2018). This measure shows therefore not only lobbying cultures and EU salience, but specifically also EU lobbying culture. Regional data was not retrievable, but this national proxy turned out to be a very important determinant. Secondly, I included a dummy variable of whether or not there is an EU agency in the region, as a measure of not only EU in the region, but also of EU salience (European Union, n.d.). I opted for this rather than flow of structural funds into the region, since the latter could also be an effect of successful lobbying.

Similarly, I added four control variables based on public opinion data (using European Commission, 2019). First and second, the percentage of people in the region that trust the EU, and the percentage of people that do NOT trust the national government, thinking that higher values on these might lead to more bypassing in a region. I then also added the percentage of people that cited the national government as the most apt in explaining EU impact on everyday lives of citizens, and the same measure but with the region as the subject. The idea for this was that people who consider the region the best at explaining the impact of the EU could incentivise the

region to bypass more. These public opinion data were collected on a NUTS 2 level (the intermediate level of the EU's statistical regions) as no relevant public opinion data could be found that also had enough responses from each region (see for example European Social Survey, 2018). While this use of data might reduce some of the regional nuance, it should overall pick up differences between divisions of a country, making this the best solution to these data constraints.

Finally, I included the length of EU membership coded as a dummy variable which distinguishes between old and new Member States. The cut-off point was before the large Central and Eastern European enlargement in 2004, in order to capture a potential East/West divide as well. More time as members means more institutionalisation, more integration and more routinisation. The East/West divide is interesting because the countries that joined share much of their political history and may be similarly inclined to bypass their national governments and engage with the EU.

4.3 ...how and why? Methodology and justification

In order to find out how structural gatekeeping impacts bypassing, I run multiple OLS regression analyses. Because the analysis I aim to do is well-informed by theory, an OLS regression model where I enter variables in a two-step model, with the gatekeeping factors in a first step and all the control variables in a second step, is an apt way to go about investigating the question. The analysis should therefore be read as the effect of gatekeeping on bypassing with and without control variables.

These statistical models rely on a set of assumptions about the data in question for the results to be considered robust. I tested my data for all of these and made adjustments where theoretically and empirically motivated. But statistical decisions are not clear-cut, and different statisticians believe in different methods.

The first issue is to investigate outliers and potentially overly influential cases. Outliers are cases that fall far outside the norm, either on individual factors or in terms of what the model could explain (e.g. residuals), and influential cases occur when a case has a disproportionately strong impact on the parameters in the final model (Field, 2018: 382). My philosophy on outliers is that they are natural nuance that should not be removed. I therefore investigate them to make sure they were not entered incorrectly, and to check that there are not any *singular* outliers to keep in mind. I do

however run all my regressions with and without overly influential cases, to see if the effects of the models still hold.⁵

The second assumption to investigate is that of normality. First, residuals, meaning the difference between what the model predicted and what each case scored, should follow a normal distribution. When residuals are non-normal, the calculated parameters in the linear regression are untrustworthy, but in this case, no clear violations were found.⁶ Second, the sampling distribution should be normally distributed, which relates to the idea that the cases should have an equal probability of being sampled. This fact is tricky to know in non-original data where it is unknown if there were any sampling bias, and so a common guideline is to say that when the number of cases is more than thirty, the normality of the sampling distribution can be assumed (Field, 2018: 235). I have in my final sample 298 cases, suggesting there is no problem. As previously discussed, data was missing on small local government and so I will be cautious about generalising the findings here to very small regions. This problem is not limited to my thesis, and I attempt to adjust for it by having cases that range in size and that cover nineteen countries, and by controlling for population size.

The third assumption concerns multicollinearity. Predictor variables are multicollinear when they have a strong linear relationship with each other, and this relationship makes it impossible to know which of the two was actually important for the outcome. While initially I had issues with this assumption in models including my three measures of gatekeeping, this was solved by removing two control variables that had returned insignificant results in my previous analyses.⁷

The two final assumptions can be examined together: linearity and homoskedasticity. Linearity is the assumption that there is no non-linear relationship present that is being described as linear (Field, 2018: 230). Homoskedasticity is the assumption that the variation in scores on the dependent variable does not differ between low and high values on the predictor variables (Field, 2018: 237). No clear violation was found on either assumption⁸, but there is a theoretical reason to control for heteroskedasticity (i.e. non-homoskedasticity) nevertheless. Because I measure regions that are nested inside countries, and because their gatekeeping is determined by national policies, I have a sort of common treatment effect. For example, German Länder all get the same "treatment": the national laws that define the mandates of the German Länder. Where there are common treatment effects it may be useful to use

⁵ To determine this, I remove cases with absolute values on any Standardised DFBeta above 1 (Field, 2018: 384). For all regressions run against index 4, I check this individually for each model. For the regressions run against index 1-3, I use the cases that showed up on index 3, for the sake of simplicity.

⁶ I opted for visual tests, since test diagnostics often return significant for larger sample sizes (Field, 2018: 248).

⁷ I look for correlations in the covariance matrix that that are .8 or higher (where 1 indicates a perfect linear relationship) and significant ($p \le .05$). I then check tolerance and VIF values for each indicator, making sure that the average VIF in each model is close to 1 and that no VIF value is above 10 (and no tolerance value is below .1) (Field, 2018: 402).

⁸ I used visual tests here too, for the same reason as with the normal distribution of the residuals (Field, 2018: 258).

robust standard errors and clustered standard errors (a type of robust standard errors where you specify around what you want to cluster the standard errors – in my case that would be country-level) (World Bank Blogs, 2017; Abadie et al. 2017). Therefore, I also run robust standard errors using the standard HC3 method and using clustered standard errors, which make the models reliable despite assumption violations (Field, 2018: 1034). Remember that I also run all my analyses with and without overly influential cases. This allows me to ensure that my findings are not limited to the model, but it does come with one limitation that needs to be kept in mind: namely, examining the same data in different ways can lead to an overinflated confidence in the outcome of the models (Field, 2018: 737).

Summing up, I have taken a whole host of data considerations into mind when running these analyses. Not only do I run my analyses for different ways of measuring gatekeeping against different ways of measuring bypassing, but I also control for heteroskedasticity or a common treatment effect as well as for overly influential cases. I have also filled a gap of a case selection bias in the literature where previous studies have picked their cases on the dependent variable. With all of this in mind, it is time to move on to the actual findings.

5 (How) does gatekeeping *actually* impact bypassing?

To truly investigate the impact of gatekeeping on bypassing, I use multiple different measures. To look at the nuances in gatekeeping, I start by investigating overall gatekeeping, inversely measured through the composite measure of *RAI*. I then break this index down into autonomy over the own region (*self-rule*) and influence over national policies (*shared rule*). I then rearrange these indices into a final trio: (1) as general and policy *autonomy*; (2) as financial *autonomy* and *influence*; and (3) as legislative *influence*. Bypassing, my dependent variable, consists of multiple differently weighted indices of regional offices, public consultation responses and international network memberships. While I run my analyses against four different indices, I present in tables the findings of only one, and then at the end I show how these findings fit the other indices.

5.1 The role of gatekeeping overall

The first linear regression explained bypassing well. Table 2 (below) shows the first linear regression where an overall measurement of gatekeeping was used. Model 1 presents the findings of the linear regression without control variables, and Model 2 presents the same regression with control variables. Both models resulted in significant relationships, Model 1 (F(1, 296)=112, p≤.001) with an adjusted R² of .271, meaning the model could explain 27.1 percent of the variance in regional bypassing. Model 2 performed even better in terms of variance explanation, having a significant relationship (F(14, 282)=18.7, p≤.001) and explaining 47.2 percent of the variance.

	Model 1	Model 2
Regional Authority Index	.523***	.130
GDP per capita	-	.488***
Regional – national GDP per capita	-	163*
Percentage of people that trust the EU	-	.097
Percentage of people that do not trust the national government	-	.165*
Percentage of people that find national government most apt at	-	.123
explaining EU impact		
Percentage of people that find region most apt at explaining EU impact	-	041
Number of entries on transparency registry from the country	-	.301**
New or old member state (0 meaning new, 1 meaning old)	-	150*
Total population	-	.045
Population of region as share of country	-	.066
Population density	-	146**
Border region	-	.050
EU agency in the region	-	.108*
Island region	-	.187***
F	111.6***	18.7***
Adj. R ²	.271	.472
Ν	298	298

Table 2. Linear regression model of overall gatekeeping (RAI) against bypassing

Note: standardised OLS regression coefficients.

***p≤.001, **p≤.01, *p≤.05

Gatekeeping initially seems to perform quite well - the standardised beta coefficient in Model 1 is relatively high at .523 ($p \le .001$), meaning that an increase by one standard deviation in regional authority leads to half a standard deviation increase in bypassing.

However, when control variables are added in Model 2, the picture changes dramatically. Regional Authority is no longer a significant factor impacting bypassing at all, and the standardised beta coefficient falls drastically from .523 ($p \le .001$) to .130, with no significance. Taking its place as powerful explanatory factor is GDP per capita, which has the by far highest standardised beta coefficient of all controls at .488 $(p \le .001)$, indicating that richer regions bypass more. The second strongest relationship comes from national EU lobbying culture, where the standardised beta coefficient of .301 ($p \le .01$) suggests that regions in countries with a livelier EU lobbying culture also bypass more. The third strongest factor is whether or not the region is an island, indicating that island regions bypass more, with a standardised beta coefficient of .187 $(p \le .001)$. Fourth in place is the explanation that regions where a higher percentage of the populace distrusts the national government also bypass more, with a standardised beta coefficient of .165 ($p \le .05$). The fifth strongest factor is the relative GDP per capita, indicating, where the standardised beta coefficient of -.163 ($p \le .05$) indicates that relatively richer regions bypass *less*. It could be the case that these regions are more influential domestically and see EU-lobbying as an alternative to domestic influence. This will be discussed more later. Sixth, regions in older Member States seem to bypass

less, with a standardised beta coefficient of -.150 ($p \le .05$), while regions in newer Member States bypass more. Note that the distinction between old and new also corresponds to the common East/West divide right before the big enlargement round, meaning that this factor also indicates that Central and Eastern European regions bypass more. The seventh important factor is population density, where more metropolitan areas bypass less than more rural ones, seen by the standardised beta coefficient -.146 ($p \le .01$). This finding mirrors the same logic as relative GDP per capita; more metropolitan areas might also be more influential domestically, and therefore might not bypass as much at an EU-level, if they consider EU-lobbying mutually exclusive to domestic influence. Metropolitan areas also correspond in multiple cases to capital cities, and these are perhaps even more likely to value national domestic routes. Finally, regions where there is an EU agency also bypass more, with a standardised beta coefficient of .108 ($p\leq.05$). Overall, when including control variables, eight out of fourteen control variables had a significant impact on bypassing, and the effect of gatekeeping disappeared completely. How generalisable this finding is, is the next question.

	Regional Authority Index
Original regressions	
OLS regression	.072
	(.041)
Robust standard errors (HC3)	.072
	(.061)
Clustered standard errors	.072
	(.085)
Influential cases removed	
OLS regression	.081*
	(.041)
Robust standard errors (HC3)	.081
	(.062)
Clustered standard errors	.081
	(.081)

Table 3. Overall gatekeeping in all models, when including control variables

Note: Unstandardised OLS regression coefficients with standard errors in brackets. ***p<.001, **p<.01, *p<.05

In order to make sure that the findings were not biased by overly influential cases, heteroskedasticity or a common treatment effect, I ran the same models in both robust and clustered standard errors, both with and without noted overly influential cases. Moving onto these models in Table 3, it is evident that the effect of gatekeeping when measured as overall autonomy is practically non-existent. Only one of the regressions returned a significant relationship between gatekeeping and bypassing when control variables are included, namely the normal OLS regression run after removing

influential cases. Even in this instance, the unstandardised⁹ beta coefficient and significance level are low .081 ($p \le .05$), indicating that for a one-point increase in regional authority, bypassing increases (on its fifteen-point scale) by less than a tenth of a point. Looking at the standard errors, it is also clear that these are half the value of the beta coefficient, indicating that the true beta coefficient could be as low as .04 (or as "high" as .12).

There is therefore no real reason to suspect that overall gatekeeping impacts bypassing. This finding might be considered surprising considering the insistence of the literature that overall gatekeeping does matter. However, this finding is *not* an indication that gatekeeping has no impact. Rather, as I will show below, what is hiding underneath this non-significant relationship are two strong and significant relationships pulling regions in *opposite directions*.

5.2 Self-rule or shared rule? A *crucial* difference!

We now return to the idea that structural gatekeeping, i.e. centralisation of power, can be thought of as either *autonomy over the own region* or as *influence over the national polity*. As described in the methods section, this division can be found in the Regional Authority Index (Hooghe et al., 2016): self-rule and shared rule. When these are separated, a whole new picture emerges.

⁹ Here I use *unstandardised* beta coefficients which are not comparable between variables. I use these because the standard errors given by SPSS are not calculated in relation to the standardised coefficients.

	Model 1	Model 2
Autonomy over the self (self-rule)	.476***	.373***
Influence over the national (shared rule)	.092	214**
GDP per capita	-	.535***
Regional – national GDP per capita	-	213**
Percentage of people that trust the EU	-	.153**
Percentage of people that do not trust the national government	-	.213**
Percentage of people that find national government most apt at explaining EU impact	-	.089
Percentage of people that find region most apt at explaining EU impact	-	.069
Number of entries on transparency registry from the country	-	.274**
Old or new member state (0 meaning new, 1 meaning old)	-	186*
Total population	-	007
Population of region as share of country	-	.132*
Population density	-	118*
Border region	-	.055
EU agency in the region	-	.114*
Island region	-	.150**
F	63.5***	19.8***
Adj. R ²	.296	.503
Ν	298	298

Table 4. Linear regression model of self- and shared rule against bypassing

Note: standardised OLS regression coefficients.

***p≤.001, **p≤.01, *p≤.05

The first finding that pops out when examining Table 4, a regression analysis of the two measures of gatekeeping – self-rule and shared rule – is the power of *autonomy over the self* in both models in explaining different levels of bypassing. Without control variables, Model 1 shows self-rule to have a standardised beta coefficient of .476 ($p\leq.001$), and this only decreases somewhat when including control variables, down to .373, while the significance level stays the same ($p\leq.001$). These results indicate that the higher the autonomy of a region, the higher the activity levels in Brussels of said regions. That is the same as to say that regions that are *less* gatekept also bypass *more*. Not only is this in line with the expected findings, but the linear relationship is also the second strongest factor out of all factors included in Model 2, beaten only by GDP per capita, which again has a strong beta coefficient of .535 ($p\leq.001$). This suggests that autonomy over the self is one of the most important and significant factors in determining the bypassing activities of these regions.

The second measure of gatekeeping, *influence over the national* measured as shared rule, paints a more ambiguous picture. Without control variables, the factor is not significant at all, meaning no clear relationship was found between shared rule and bypassing. As control variables are introduced in Model 2, a significant relationship is indeed found, with a standardised beta coefficient of -.214 ($p\leq.01$). Particularly

noteworthy is how when introducing control variables, the relationship becomes *negative*. This would seem to suggest that as influence over national politics *increase*, bypassing activities actually *decrease*. Phrased another way, *more* gatekeeping leads to *more* bypassing. What is even more interesting is the relatively high standardised beta coefficient in the second model. Namely, this negative relationship in terms of strength of relationship is the fourth strongest factor in Model 2.

This opposite directional finding is in line with the hypothesis posed by Tatham (2010) that a central government that allows its regional governments to participate in the national decision-making processes incentivise those regions to spend their energies there, and try to be influential nationally, rather than going to Brussels. This hypothesis poses bypassing as an either-or activity – that a region has limited attention and can choose if it wants to influence the EU directly or indirectly, through its national government.

The overall fit of the two models in Table 4 are both good. Both regressions are significant in explaining bypassing activities: Model 1 (F(2, 295)=63.5, p≤.001) describes 29.6 percent of the variance in bypassing despite the significance of only one variable; and in Model 2 (F(14, 281)=19.8, p≤.001) this increases to 50.3 percent, indicating that Model 2 can explain half of the variance of regional bypassing. R squares this high are generally considered good fits in social science, and the adjusted R square value can be trusted so long as enough variables have significant relationships. In this case, twelve out of sixteen factors had a significant relationship. This should be considered a rather good fit.

For the most part, the effect of the control variables in Model 2 in this regression align with the findings on the control variables in the first regression run in the previous section. The main difference from the previous findings are the now significant relationship between regions whose populace trusts the EU more, and regions that bypass more, with a standardised beta coefficient of .153 ($p \le .01$), and the fact that there is now a significant relationship between regions whose population makes up a higher percentage of the national population, and regions that bypass more, although this effect is significant only at the lowest level, with a standardised beta of .132 ($p \le .05$).

	Self-rule	Shared rule
Original regressions		
OLS regression	.455***	193**
	(.097)	(.073)
Robust standard errors (HC3)	.455**	193*
	(.149)	(.078)
Clustered standard errors	.455*	193
	(.208)	(.098)
Influential cases removed		
OLS regression	.544***	176*
	(.097)	(.071)
Robust standard errors (HC3)	.544***	176*
	(.121)	(.075)
Clustered standard errors	.544**	176
	(.175)	(.090)

Table 5. self-rule and shared rule in all models, when including control variables

Note: Unstandardised OLS regression coefficients with standard errors in brackets.

***p≤.001, **p≤.01, *p≤.05

In the same vein of making sure the results were not biased by overly influential cases, heteroskedasticity (or through a common treatment effect), I ran the same regressions with robust standard errors, clustered standard errors and with and without overly influential cases.

Looking first at the findings on autonomy over the self, Table 5 shows how the significance holds across all models, only slightly dipping in the two clustered standard errors, as the standard errors increase. What is particularly noteworthy is the size of this significance, which is in half of the cases at the highest level ($p \le .001$). The most noteworthy dip is the first clustered standard error where the significance dips to the lowest level ($p \le .05$). However, as the overly influential cases are removed, this effect increases again ($p \le .01$), and the standard errors decrease in size. Overall, the notion that self-rule matters is robust across models, and it seems there is relative certainty in the finding that as self-rule increases by one point on its empirical thirteen-point scale, bypassing increases by around half a point on its fifteen-point scale. This must be considered a relatively steep linear relationship, where the degree of autonomy has a strong effect on bypassing. All of this is to say that there seems to be a quite clear indication that when structural gatekeeping occurs in respect to autonomy over the own region, bypassing is seriously constrained.

The effect of influence over national politics (shared rule) is much less clear-cut. Table 5 showcases a significant relationship in four out of six models, but the significance is in three of these at the lowest level, and the standard errors are relatively high. This neither confirms nor rebuts the idea that shared rule is important, and instead provides uncertainty about what the true relationship between shared-rule and bypassing is. Is there an impact, and if so, is it really in this negative direction? The next section will get to the bottom of this effect – and the key to doing so is to isolate the role of *financial authority* from these self- and shared rule variables.

5.3 Money talks? Isolating finances from self- and shared rule

When gatekeeping is divided into three factors: general *autonomy*; financial *authority* (both autonomy and influence); and legal *influence*, the picture becomes much clearer. As discussed in the previous chapter, these measurements differ from self- and shared rule only in the sense that the financial aspects of both were isolated and made into a third category: financial authority. Self-rule becomes general *autonomy*, as it measures policy competence, institutional depth, and control of national government on the executive and legislature of the region; shared-rule becomes legal *influence*, as it measures the control of the region on the national executive, and the influence of the region in national law-making and constitutional changes; finally, financial authority includes the region's ability to borrow and levy taxes in the region, but also the ability to influence national borrowing and taxation decisions.

	Model 1	Model 2
Financial authority	.724***	.374***
General autonomy	.038	.192*
Legal influence	204*	354***
GDP per capita	-	.556***
Regional – national GDP per capita	-	221**
Percentage of people that trust the EU	-	.092
Percentage of people that do not trust the national government	-	.145*
Number of entries on transparency registry from the country	-	.241**
Old or new member state (0 meaning new, 1 meaning old)	-	160
Total population	-	.003
Population of region as share of country	-	.114*
Population density	-	121*
Border region	-	.048
EU agency in the region	-	.110*
Island region	-	.146**
F	51.2***	21.2***
Adj. R ²	.337	.505
Ν	298	298

Table 6. Linear regression model of three forms of gatekeeping against bypassing

Note: standardised OLS regression coefficients.

***p≤.001, **p≤.01, *p≤.05

The models presented in Table 6 are similar to the previous models in many ways. Both are significant, with Model 1 (F(3, 294)=51.2, $p \le .001$) explaining 33.7 per cent of the variance, and Model 2 (F(12, 282)=21.2, $p \le .001$) increasing this number to 50.5 per cent. Moving onto the second model, similar control variables to previous models remain significant in the same direction, with the main difference being that the division between old and new Member States is no longer significant. Again, Model 2 is a good fit with the data considering its overall significance, the number of significant variables, and the ability of the model to explain half of the variance.

Starting with an analysis of financial aspects of gatekeeping, Table 6 shows that financial authority has a high standardised beta coefficient at .724 in Model 1, and that this is significant to the utmost degree ($p \le .001$). As control variables are introduced in Model 2, the significance level stays the same, but the standardised beta coefficient deflates to .374. Despite this substantial decrease, financial gatekeeping retains in Model 2 the second highest beta coefficient of all factors, second to only GDP per capita, which retains its high standardised beta coefficient of .556 ($p \le .001$). The natural follow-up to this strong relationship is whether the effect holds across models. Indeed, taking a peek at Table 7, where I have again run extra analyses to account for

possible heteroskedasticity and common treatment effect, as well as overly influential cases, it is evident that this relationship between financial authority and bypassing stays throughout the analyses. The relationship is also strong, considering the fact that a one-point increase in financial authority (measured on its empirical nine-point scale) results in half a point increase in bypassing (on its fifteen-point scale). Again, this is indicative of a substantial effect of financial authority on bypassing. All of this is to say that there are strong indications that when finances are isolated from both autonomy over the own region and influence over the national, it really does have a constraining effect on bypassing. This is unsurprising in light of the expectations, since the more influence a region would have in deciding its own financial existence – whether it be by being able to set their own tax rate or by having voting rights on national taxing decision that apply to them – ought to make them more able to budget for EU lobbying if they want to.

	Financial authority	General autonomy	Legal influence
Original regressions			
OLS regression	.499***	.463*	461***
	(.137)	(.209)	(.125)
Robust standard errors (HC3)	.499**	.463*	461***
	(.172)	(.194)	(.140)
Clustered standard errors	.499*	.463	461*
	(.201)	(.318)	(.202)
Influential cases removed			
OLS regression	.486***	.451*	435***
	(.135)	(.207)	(.124)
Robust standard errors (HC3)	.486**	.451*	435**
	(.172)	(.193)	(.139)
Clustered standard errors	.486*	.451	435*
	(.198)	(.313)	(.197)

Table 7. Three factors of gatekeeping measured against all models including control variables

Note: Unstandardised OLS regression coefficients with standard errors in brackets. ***p≤.001, **p≤.01, *p≤.05

The findings on the second factor of gatekeeping, general autonomy, are quite illuminating. Table 6 (previous page) shows that it is significant only in Model 2, as control variables are introduced to the model. The relationship is relatively weak, with a standardised beta coefficient of .192 ($p \le .05$), making it the sixth strongest out of all factors in Model 2. This nevertheless indicates that as general and policy autonomy increase, bypassing increases too. Moving to Table 7, general autonomy was significant only in four of the six analyses including control variables. Simply put, it seems that when the financial aspects of self-rule are pulled out, what remains is relatively

unimportant for bypassing activities. This is surprising, and it provides some insight into how gatekeeping as a mechanism works. More on this in the next chapter.

Turning to legal influence as the third and final measure of gatekeeping, it seems this clarifies the root cause of the original ambiguous relationship between gatekeeping and bypassing. Namely, when financial aspects are pulled out of the shared rule measurement, what is left is how influential a regional government is in controlling the national government, co-deciding its EU policies, and enacting constitutional change. These are the factors of gatekeeping, if any, that one would hypothesise to have a different impact on bypassing. If a region is influential in deciding EU policies at home, it may not be as inclined to also spend money on going to Brussels and lobbying there, as it might feel more cost-effective to go the national route and try to change the national position in the Council. In Table 6, there is a significant negative relationship between legal influence and bypassing, with a standardised beta of -.204 (p \le .05) in Model 1. When including control variables in Model 2, this beta increases to -.354, as does the level of significance ($p \le .001$). This makes legal influence the third strongest factor out of all factors in Model 2. That is, not only does legal influence matter, but it matters quite a lot, and it matters in the direction that more legal influence leads to *less* bypassing: regions with a stronger domestic standing in this regard also bypass less. What is more, Table 7 showcases how this relationship holds in all presented models.

These findings truly do illuminate and explain the ambiguous results found in the literature, as I have in this section gone into the details of *how* regional autonomy, and therefore gatekeeping, impacts bypassing.

5.4 Reliability of results

This final section of the results will discuss the overall fit of the models and reliability of the results.

It is difficult to determine how robust statistical findings are, but a good indication is that my findings on gatekeeping hold not just across different statistical models, with and without overly influential cases, but also across different measures of bypassing. To make sure my findings were not caused by how I weighted the dependent variable, I ran my analyses against all four indices of bypassing. In the previous section, I presented the findings for one of these indices, and now I would like to briefly touch on how these held up across the other models, when including control variables. The first finding was that overall gatekeeping was not a significant factor in determining bypassing. This was mirrored in my unreported models, as it was significant in only two out of twenty-four analyses in total.

The second step concerned autonomy over the self and influence over the other. The first of these was found to be significant in my previous analysis, and this finding held up across models, as self-rule was significant in all but two of the twenty-four analyses. Shared rule had ambiguous results in my presented models. This patterned continued when zooming out, as shared rule was significant in only seventeen of twenty-four analyses.

The third and final step of the analyses included financial authority, general autonomy and legal influence. Financial authority and legal influence were both significant in all but two of the analyses, mirroring the conclusions I drew in the previous section. General autonomy was presented as self-rule losing much of its significance. This was supported by the other models, where general autonomy was significant only eleven of the twenty-four analyses. These considerations show that my conclusions are not a fluke caused by the weighting or scoring of my dependent variable.

As briefly touched on in the previous section, the models are consistently able to explain a high percentage of the variation in the data. The adjusted R squared values averaged in the fortieth and fiftieth percentages, meaning about half of the variation could be explained in the models. In social science data, where variables are proxies of concepts and many external factors complicate the structure of the data, this is arguably a strong effect. To be certain that the adjusted R square is not misleading, it should be followed by an appropriate number of variables also being significant inside the model. My models consistently had most of the control variables being significant: in Table 2, seven out of fourteen control variables were significant; in Table 4, this number was ten out of fourteen, and in Table 6, it was ten out of twelve. These numbers give me no reason to suspect that the adjusted R squared is misleading, and therefore, my models can be said to be relatively good fits with the data.

I brought up in an earlier section the issue of how generalisable these results are to very small regions since they were not included in the study. I would suggest that theoretically, there is no reason to believe that these findings would not apply to smaller regions: for example, a higher regional GDP is still likely to correlate with more bypassing; and gatekeeping is still expected to work in the same way. Interestingly, population size seemed to not be a significant factor, as shown in Table 2, 4 and 6. Instead, it was relative population size that mattered, where relatively smaller regions engaged in bypassing less. This is likely to hold also if smaller regions had been included. Overall, since my cases ranged widely in population size, these considerations indicate that perhaps the exclusion of smaller regions were not a problem. The generalisability of these findings is something future research should look into, both in terms of data compilation for NUTS 3 regions (regions at the lowest level of the EU's statistical units), but also in terms of studying local governments and their gatekeeping and bypassing activities.

Summing up this discussion and reconnecting with the fourth chapter of this paper, I would argue that I have examined and considered many potential data issues and taken steps to counter these. While it is difficult to assess the absolute robustness

of these models, it seems that these findings fit the data well and that they hold up across models, measures and cases.

6 The mechanism of *gatekeeping*

I noted at the start of this paper that multiple intergovernmentalist and multilevel governance scholars concede each other's main point to some degree. Multilevel governance scholars concede that central state control still matters, and liberal intergovernmentalist concede that state sovereignty has somewhat been undermined. My findings suggest that central state control really does matter, and that it is one of the most important factors in determining regional bypassing. Whether or not this means state sovereignty has been undermined is not an operationalizable question, at least not in this thesis. Some might say that the mere presence of regions in Brussels means that state control remains as important as it is right now, sovereignty remains intact. But the interesting empirical question is not about sovereignty in Europe in an abstract sense, but about the actual control and power that a national government holds over its regions. My findings illuminate this in a crucial way, while also clarifying that not all power-grabs have the same effect – regional governments can and will bypass if their domestic position is not ensured or tended to.

I propose that structural gatekeeping works as a dual mechanism on bypassing that can be likened to carrots and sticks; soft and hard power.

Gatekeeping as concerns autonomy over the own region is one of hard power as national governments can stop or constrain the region from going to Brussels by disenfranchising them in function and set-up. I showed in the theory section of this paper that this logic is mirrored in the literature, and so even if my analysis did not examine the explicit mechanism of the relationship, this hard power hypothesis is supported. When dividing autonomy up further by removing the effect of financial competences, it became clear that general and policy competences lose much of their explanatory ability. This could be because the empirical range on this factor in my sample was not as wide as for the other factors (the lowest value was five on a theoretical eleven-point scale), or because this factor is most potent when considered together with financial issues.

Gatekeeping was also found to work in a soft power, incentive-based way, where what might be traditionally seen as "more gatekeeping" had an adverse effect on regions when financial influence was removed. In these cases, regions actually engaged in more bypassing activities. This is in line with the literature that suggest regions go abroad also to strengthen their position at home (Rowe, 2011: 56). Here too my analysis did not examine the actual mechanism behind the relationship, but the findings together

with the literature strongly suggest that the logic is one of incentives and that regions will go abroad if not listened to at home. Gatekeeping therefore has an effect in both cases, but more centralisation of power leads to different results depending on where it is applied. Regions with less power over their own regions are indeed constrained from bypassing, but regions with less influence in their domestic processes are given a reason to leave.

These findings on structural gatekeeping has clear implications for how what I earlier dubbed "specific" gatekeeping should be viewed. National governments that want to keep the national position in the Council unified might be expected to increase their attentiveness to the regions at home. To investigate how this plays out in Europe today, future studies need to investigate not just constraining or disenfranchising factors, but also factors that persuade and act incentives. Similarly, more needs to be discovered about how regional governments view this trade-off.

This point about incentives also has implications for the nature and purpose of regional bypassing. Previous literature has suggested that regions nowadays consider their EU lobbying to be an activity in its own right (Moore, 2007: 3-4). My finding that domestically powerful regions do not bother bypassing is therefore an interesting contrast. Since my measurement of bypassing was not one of conflicting vis-à-vis cooperative interest representation but of activity overall, my findings have a somewhat different implication than those in the pre-existing literature. Namely, while Tatham (2010) has found that domestically powerful regions are less likely to *defect* from national positions or pursue contrasting lobbying, I found that domestically powerful regions, EU lobbying might almost be mutually exclusive to domestic influence. Future research should therefore investigate if this is a sentiment found among regional governments, and if so, how widespread it is and whether it is conditional on the domestic influence concerning EU policies or if all national policies with a relevance for the region have the same effect.

These findings also speak to the development of the EU over time and as a system of governance. The EU has undergone a process where regional government mobilisation has outright proliferated (Moore, 2007: 3), and yet this seems to not have been to the detriment of central state control, which continues to be among the most important factors. This then begs the question if the increasing presence of regional governments in Brussels ought to be considered a result of the longer trend of decentralisation of governance that has been ongoing in Europe since the 1980s (De Vries, 2000: 193), where national governments would simply be giving up their twolevel game by opting not to disenfranchise regional governments from participating. While most of the literature on regional mobilisation cite changes at an EU-level as a mobiliser (the forming of the Committee of the Regions, the revising of the structural funds), my findings instead suggest that perhaps the literature should also consider changes to national governance as a *mobiliser* of regionalisation. When seen in light of decentralising governance in Europe, this also begs the question if gatekeeping can actually change pre-existing bypassing activities of regional governments: Can an already active region be pulled back? One example I illustrated early on was the constitutional reform in Hungary where all regional governments' offices were replaced by one country-wide one. The question is if outside of this measure, bypassing levels actually decreased in Hungary. Future research therefore needs to thoroughly examine changes in gatekeeping and bypassing over time, both for structural and specific attempts at gatekeeping.

Finally, these findings have implications for how unique the EU might be. While much of the literature on regional mobilisation and multilevel governance concerns the EU, the broader topic of paradiplomacy has consistently also studied US states (see for example, Duchacek, 1986). One theoretical difference to note is that the EU has institutionalised in it a direct relationship between supranational and regional level that other international organisations have not. Namely, while regions in other parts of the world can conduct its own foreign policy, there is seldom one clear target of this foreign policy. The EU institutions have institutionalised a regional voice, inviting regions to come lobby. The EU has also established a direct legal relationship between the supranational and subnational, where EU law often is to be implemented by the regions. These direct linkages perhaps suggest that regional bypassing ought to be higher in the EU than elsewhere. It is interesting therefore that central state control continues to dominate, even here.

7 ... In summary

In this paper, I showed that a central question in the literature on regional participation in the EU was this: what actually remains of central state control? This question concerned the remnants of the two-level game and whether the national government could – to some extent – keep its domestic bargaining game separate from its intergovernmental one. I specified this into the research question of if and how central state gatekeeping might impact regional government bypassing, where gatekeeping was divided into two parts: specific and structural gatekeeping, where the latter of these amount to a centralisation of power between the region and the national government in a country.

Focusing on structural gatekeeping, this analysis provided the clear answer that gatekeeping indeed does matter, quite a lot. In the models I built, gatekeeping was consistently among the strongest determinants for bypassing behaviour. The only factor that consistently had a stronger impact was regional GDP per capita, suggesting that how relatively well-off a region is economically is perhaps the main determinant for whether a region will muscle into decision-making in Brussels. This could be because of an interest logic; that regional GDP measures the producer interests of a region, or it could be because of a capacity- and domestic-standing type logic, that richer regions are more *able* to go to Brussels.

What was most illuminating was the dual nature of *how* gatekeeping impacts bypassing: rather than simply constraining it, gatekeeping seems to also incentivise bypassing. Where regions are disenfranchised as regards autonomy over their own region, gatekeeping constrains bypassing. When regions are gatekept in terms of influence into the national decision-making however, gatekeeping becomes an incentive for regions to seek influence elsewhere, giving it the opposite effect. This does not mean that gatekeeping as regards shared-rule is broken down so much as it shows that not all parts of centralisation of power actually functions in the same gatekeepinglike manner.

The words I use here – disenfranchising and incentivising – are mechanisms of hard and soft power that are both hypothesised in the literature and that find empirical support in my findings. My analyses seem to suggest, considering the strong basis in the literature, the controlling of other explanations, and the strength and direction of the correlations, that this is how gatekeeping impacts bypassing.

There are a number of ways that future research should go from here. One major topic is on the notion of what I called specific gatekeeping, i.e. acts by national governments that aim to keep the two-level game going. Future studies should conceptualise this further and ask how prevalent such a tactic might be. Which national governments care about the two-level game? How do they try to enforce it? Are hard or soft powers more common? How successful are these deliberate attempts? Are the regions complying or do they counter these attempts?

These questions all follow from the overarching findings of this paper. Namely, I have shown, in empirical and EU-wide terms, *how* state gatekeeping impacts regional bypassing.

8 References

- Abadie, A., Athey, S., Imbens, G. W. & Wooldridge, J. (2017). When Should You Adjust Standard Errors for Clustering? DOI: DOI 10.3386/w24003
- Ansell, C. K., Parsons, C. A. & Darden, K. A. (1997). Dual Networks in European Regional Development Policy. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 35(3): 347-375.
- Antunes, S. & Magone, J. M. (2020). *With* or *without* you: Mobilization strategies of Portuguese regional authorities in the European Union. *Regional & Federal Studies*, 30(2): 219-241.
- Anwen, E. (2008). Introduction: Whatever Happened to the Europe of the Regions? Revisiting the Regional Dimension of European Politics. *Regional & Federal Studies*, 18(5): 483-492.
- Bache, I. (1996). EU Regional Policy: has the UK government succeeded in playing the gatekeeper role over the domestic impact of the European Regional Development Fund? Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Sheffield University.
- Bache, I. (1998). The Politics of European Union Regional Policy: Multi-Level Governance or Flexible Gatekeeping? Sheffield Academic Press.
- Bache, I. (2005). Europeanization and Britain: Towards Multi-level Governance? Paper prepared for the EUSA 9th Biennial Conference in Austin, Texas, March 31-April 2, 2005.
- Bache, I. & Bristow, G. (2003). Devolution and the gatekeeping role of the core executive: the struggle for European funds. *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 5(3): 405–27.
- Bache, I. & Flinders, M. (2004). Multilevel Governance. Oxford University Press.
- Bache, I. (2015). Cohesion Policy: A New Direction for New Times? In H. Wallace, M. A. Pollack & A. R. Young (eds.). *Policy-Making in the European Union* (7th ed.).
- Barzilai-Nahon, K. (2011). Gatekeeping: A critical review. *Annual Review of Information Science and Technology*, 43(1): 1-79.
- Beyers, J. & Donas, T. (2014). Inter-regional networks in Brussels: Analyzing the information exchanges among regional offices. *European Union Politics*, 15(4): 547-571.
- Blatter, J., Kreutzer, M., Rentl, M. & Thiele, J. (2008). The Foreign Relations of European Regions: Competences and Strategies. West European Politics, 31(3): 464-90.

- Bomberg, E. & Peterson, J. (1998). European Union Decision Making: the Role of Sub-national Authorities. *Political Studies*, 46(2): 219-235.
- Brusis, M. (2014). Paths and Constraints of Subnational Government Mobilization in East-Central Europe. *Regional & Federal Studies*, 24(3): 301-319.
- Burch, M. & Gomez, R. (2002). The English Regions and the European Union. *Regional Studies*, 36(7): 767-778.
- Callanan, M. & Tatham, M. (2014). Territorial interest representation in the European Union: actors, objectives and strategies. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 21(2): 188-210.
- Chalmers, A. W. (2013). Regional Authority, Transnational Lobbying and the Allocation of Structural Funds in the European Union. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 51(5): 815-31.
- Committee of the Regions (n.d.). *Regional Offices Organisation*. Retrieved from: <u>https://cor.europa.eu/en/members/Documents/regional-offices-</u> organisations.pdf#search=regional%20offices (accessed December 8, 2021).
- De Vries, M. S. (2000). The rise and fall of decentralization: a comparative analysis of arguments and practices in European countries. *European Journal of Political Research*, 38: 193-224.
- Dickson, F. (2014). The Internationalisation of Regions: Paradiplomacy or Multi-level Governance? *Geography Compass*, 8(10): 689-700.
- Donas, T. & Beyers, J. (2012). How Regions Assemble in Brussels: The Organizational Form of Territorial Representation in the European Union. *The Journal of Federalism*, 43(4): 527-550.
- Duchacek, I. D. (1986). The Territorial Dimension of Politics: Within, Among, and Across Nations. Westview Press.
- European Commission (2018). Organisations in Transparency Register. List of registered organisations (New format starting 27(01/2015). Retrieved from: https://data.europa.eu/data/datasets/transparency-register?locale=en, accessed December 22, 2021.

European Commission (2019). Flash Eurobarometer 472: Public opinion in the EU regions. Retrieved from: https://data.europa.eu/data/datasets/s2219_472_eng?locale=sv, accessed December 31, 2021.

European Social Survey (2018). European Social Survey Round 9, edition 3.1:Multileveldata.Retrievedfrom:http://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/data/multilevel/varselection.html?round=9&c=AT&c=BE&c=CZ&c=DE&c=DK&c=ES&c=FI&c=FR&c=GB&c=HR&c=HU&c=IE&c=IT&c=NL&c=PT&c=SE&c=SI&c=SK,accessedDecember 12, 2021.

- European Union (n.d.). *Institutions and bodies profiles*. Retrieved from: <u>https://european-union.europa.eu/institutions-law-budget/institutions-and-bodies/institutions-and-bodies-profiles en</u>, accessed November 22, 2021.
- Eurostat (2020). Statistical regions in the European Union and partner countries: NUTS and statistical regions 2021. 2020 edition. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/3859598/10967554/KS-GQ-20-092-EN-N.pdf/9d57ae79-3ee7-3c14-da3e-34726da385cf?t=1591285035000, accessed December 22, 2021.
- Eurostat (2021a). Gross domestic product (GDP) at current market prices by NUTS 3 regions (NAMA_10R_3GDP). Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/NAMA_10R_3GDP_custom_1 833642/default/table?lang=en, accessed December 31, 2021.
- Eurostat (2021b). *Population on 1 January by broad age group, sex and NUTS 3 region* (*demo_r_pjanaggr3*). Retrieved from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database</u>, accessed December 31, 2021.
- Eurostat (2021c). *Population density by NUTS 3 region (demo_r_d3dens)*, retrieved from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database</u>, accessed December 31, 2021.
- Eurostat (n.d.). *Current list of border regions*. Retrieved from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/regions/background</u>, accessed November 18, 2021.
- Field, A. (2018). *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics* (5th edition). Sage Publications Ltd.
- George, S. (2004). Multi-level governance and the European Union. In: I. Bache & M. Flinders (eds). *Multilevel Governance*. Oxford University Press.
- Gibbs, D. C., Jonas, A. E. G., Reimer, S. & Spooner, D. J. (2001). Governance, institutional capacity and partnerships in local economic development: theoretical issues and empirical evidence from the Humber Sub-region. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 26(1): 103-119.
- Greenwood, J. (2011). Actors of the Common Interest? The Brussels Offices of the Regions. *Journal of European Integration*, 33(4): 437-451.
- The Guardian (2019). Islands in the illiberal storm: central European cities vow to stand
together.Retrievedfrom:https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/dec/16/islands-in-the-illiberal-storm-central-european-cities-vow-to-stand-togetherhttps://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/dec/16/islands-in-the-illiberal-storm-central-european-cities-vow-to-stand-together, accessed January 1, 2022.
- Hajnal, G. & Rosta, M. (2019). A New Doctrine in the Making? Doctrinal Foundations of Sub-National Governance Reforms in Hungary (2010-2014). *Administration & Society*, 51(3): 404-430.
- Hoffmann, S. (1982). Reflections on the Nation-State in Western Europe Today. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 21(1): 21-37.
- Hooghe, L. & Marks, G. (2001). *Multi-level Governance and European Integration*. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.

- Hooghe, L., Marks, G., Schakel, A. H., Chapman-Osterkatz, S., Niedzwiecki, S. & Shair-Rosenfield, S. (2016). <u>Measuring Regional Authority: A Postfunctionalist</u> <u>Theory of Governance, Volume I</u>. Oxford: Oxford University Press: xiv+ 687.
- Jerneck, M. & Gidlund, J. (2001). Komplex flernivådemokrati: Regional lobbying i Bryssel. Liber AB.
- Jessop, B. (2004). Multi-level governance and meta-governance. In: I. Bache & M. Flinders (eds). *Multilevel Governance*. Oxford University Press.
- Keating, M., Hooghe, L. & Tatham, M. (2015). Bypassing the nation-state? Regions and the EU policy process. In: J. Richardson & S. Mazey (eds). *European Union: Power and policy-making (fourth edition)*. Routledge: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Kern, K. & Bulkeley, H. (2009). Cities, Europeanization and Multi-level Governance: Governing Climate Change through Transnational Municipal Networks. *Journal* of Common Market Studies, 47(2): 309-332.
- Lindh, M. (2018). Kommunal och regional lobbying i Bryssel. Mot nya former av governance? *Statsvetenskaplig tidsskrift*, 120(5): 63-84.
- Marks, G. (1992). Structural Policy in the European Community. In: A. M. Sbragia (ed). *Euro-politics: Institutions and Policymaking in the "New" European Community.* The Brookings Institution, Washington, D.C.
- Marks, G., Haesly, R. & Mbaye, H. A. D. (2002). What do subnational offices think they are doing in Brussels? *Regional & Federal Studies*, 12(3): 1-23.
- Marks, G., Hooghe, L. & Blank, K. (1996). European Integration from the 1980s: State-Centric v. Multi-level Governance. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 34(3): 341-378.
- Marks, G., Nielsen, F., Ray, L. & Salk, J. E. (1996). Competencies, Cracks, and Conflicts: Regional Mobilization in the European Union. *Comparative Political Studies*, 29(2): 164-192.
- Moore, C. (2007). A Europe of the Regions vs. the Regions in Europe: reflections on regional engagement in Brussels. *European Union Studies Association (EUSA) Annual Conference*. Montreal, 17-19 May 2007.
- Moravcsik, A. (1993). Preferences and Power in the European Community: A Liberal Intergovernmentalist approach. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 31(4): 473-524.
- OECD/UCLG (2019). 2019 Report of the World Observatory on Subnational Government Finance and Investment – Country Profiles. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.sng-</u>

wofi.org/publications/SNGWOFI 2019 report country profiles.pdf, accessed September 30, 2021.

- Piattoni, S. (2009). Multi-level Governance: a Historical and Conceptual Analysis. *European Integration*, 31(2): 163-180.
- Piattoni, S. (2010). The Theory of Multi-level Governance: Conceptual, Empirical, and Normative challenges. Oxford University Press.

- Politico (2020, February 11). *Central Europe mayors pitch for EU cash to fight populism.* Retrieved from: <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/central-europe-mayors-pitch-for-eu-cash-to-fight-populism/</u>, accessed January 1, 2022.
- Pollack, M. A. (1995). Regional Actors in Intergovernmental Play: The Making and Implementation of EC Structural Policy. In: C. Rhodes & S. Mazey (eds). *The State of the European Union (Vol. 3): Building a European Polity?* Lynne Rennier Publishers, Inc. Longman Group Limited.
- Pollack, M. A. (2015). Theorizing EU Policy-Making. In H. Wallace, M. A. Pollack & A. R. Young (eds.). *Policy-Making in the European Union* (7th ed.: 3-11).
- Putnam, R. D. (1988). Diplomacy and domestic politics: the logic of two-level games. *International Organization*, 42(3): 427-460.
- Rowe, C. (2011). Regional Representations in the EU: Between Diplomacy and Interest Mediation. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Shair-Rosenfield, S., Schakel, A. H., Niedzwiecki, S. Marks, G. & Hooghe, L., Chapman-Osterkatz, S. (2021). <u>Language difference and regional authority</u>. *Regional and Federal Studies*, 31(1): 73-97.
- Schakel, A. H. (2021). Country profiles: Hungary (1990-2018). Retrieved from: <u>https://garymarks.web.unc.edu/data/regional-authority-2/</u>, accessed January 1, 2022.
- Scully, R. & Wyn Jones, R. (2010). *Europe, Regions and European Regionalism*. Palgrave Studies in European Union Politics. Palgrave Macmillan. Stephens, G.
- Tatham, M. (2010). With or without you? Revisiting territorial state-bypassing in EU interest representation. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 17(1): 76-99.
- Tatham, M. (2012). You do what you have to do? Salience and territorial interest representation in EU environmental affairs. *European Union Politics*, 13(3): 434-450.
- Tatham, M. (2013). Paradiplomats Against the State: Explaining Conflict in State and Substate Interest Representation in Brussels. *Comparative Political Studies*, 46(1): 63-94.
- Tatham, M. (2015). Regional Voices in the European Union: Subnational Influence in Multilevel Politics. *International Studies Quarterly*, 59: 387-400.
- Tatham, M. (2016). With, Without, or Against the State? How European Regions Play the Brussels Game. Oxford University Press.
- Van Hecke, M., Bursens, P. & Beyers, J. (2016). You'll Never Lobby Alone. Explaining the Participation of Sub-national Authorities in the European Commission's Open Consultations. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 54(6): 1433-1448.
- World Bank Blogs (2017, October 16). When should you cluster standard errors? New wisdom from the econometrics oracle. By David McKenzie. Retrieved from: <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/impactevaluations/when-should-you-cluster-standard-errors-new-wisdom-econometrics-oracle</u>, accessed December 20, 2021.

Young, A. R. (2017). The European Policy Process in Comparative Perspectives. In: In H. Wallace, M. A. Pollack & A. R. Young (eds.). *Policy-Making in the European Union* (7th ed.).

9 Appendix

For those who are interested in either seeing the full results of the assumptions-testing or the unreported models, these are readily available upon request along with datasets, syntaxes, outputs and a codebook to follow. The full output is over 1 500 pages, and so could not feasibly be included here.